INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

Photographs included in the original manuscript have been reproduced xerographically in this copy. Higher quality 6" x 9" black and white photographic prints are available for any photographs or illustrations appearing in this copy for an additional charge. Contact UMI directly to order.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600





UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

Sustained Change in Postsecondary Education

Ву

Judy Grace Harrower



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

In

Administration of Postsecondary Education

Department of Educational Policy Studies

Edmonton, Alberta

Spring, 2000



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-59969-8



UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

Library Release Form

Name of Author:

Judy Grace Harrower

Title of Thesis:

Sustained Change in Postsecondary Education

Degree:

Doctor of Philosophy

Year Granted:

2000

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly, or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights associated with the copyright in the thesis, and except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form without the author's prior written permission.

92**3**4 – 94 Street

Edmonton, Alberta

T6C 3V5

Date

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

Faculty of Gradua: te Studies and Research

The undersigned certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for acceptance, a thesis entitled SUSTAINED CHANGE IN POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION submitted by JUDY GRACE HARROWER in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN ADMINISTRATION OF POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION.

Dr. P. Brook, Supervisor

Dr. M. Andrews

Dr. D. Richards

Dr. C. Kreber_Chair

Dr. J. Parsons

Dr. J. Levin, External Examiner

January 60 000

DEDICATION

This manuscript is dedicated to the management and staff of postsecondary institutions, who work tirelessly toward improvement of their programs. These professionals have as a goal the education and training of adults, who in turn use this knowledge for the furtherance of our community and our country. Together these noble people, both teacher and student, display a passion for excellence as they strive to be all that they can be.

ABSTRACT

This dissertation identifies the key factors and behavioural processes that sustained change in a postsecondary institution in Western Canada. It also identifies the impacts of the change on students, instructors, and the institution.

The Division under study was required to respond to a 21% reduction in government funding. One Division response was a restructuring of the administration of the Division, i.e., a reduction in management layers from 21 Program Heads and Assistant Program Heads to four Team Leaders.

A conceptual framework was developed using an input-process-output system. The framework outlined key factors identified in the literature, Harrison's (1994) behavioural processes approach, and Fullan's (1982) impact concept. Seventeen interviews were conducted with executive, instructional staff, administrative and technical support, and non-Divisional staff. The findings were first analyzed in the aggregate, then by stakeholder, or organizational interest group.

Findings confirmed that the key factors affecting change in postsecondary education were leadership, change agent, and validity elements. The findings, however, show that the support of the organizational culture, discussed in the management literature, was not required in this postsecondary institutional Division to sustain change. The impact on the institution was positive, in an unexpected way. Students and instructors benefitted from the sharing of resources; a sharing that was necessitated by the reduction of funding. The organization benefitted from the management model precipitated by this Division.

What the organization learned from the outcome is that every Division did not have to look or perform exactly like the other. Many other Divisions, for instance, investigated a team-based model that was not like the first Division model. What the institution has accomplished, is a sustained and successful change in one Division.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

A sincere thank you to my thesis supervisor, Dr. Paula Brook, who guided me through the Ph.D. process, from course selection to candidacy and who spent many hours with me over coffee, lunch and dinner editing and challenging the content and format of the manuscript. Many thanks to Dr. Mike Andrews, who suggested the topic, and who mentored my movement from the business world to the postsecondary world, leaving me with some vestige of business-world ideas and concepts.

Thank you to Nelson Kennedy, Rayna Rabin, Dr. Ali Dastmalchian, and, Dr. Marilyn Miller, who read the manuscript and provided insight, making the manuscript better for their input.

Thank you to my family, friends, and co-workers who suffered the consequences of being associated with one who is self-absorbed and totally immersed in study and discipline. My cheerleaders: my sons, Geoffrey Kneller and Bradley Kneller; my brother, John Harrower; and, my niece, Karen Haugh.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| CHAPTER 1 | 1 |
|--|-----|
| INTRODUCTION | |
| The Challenge of Change in Postsecondary Education | 2 |
| Contextual Factors Affecting Postsecondary Education | |
| Public Attitude | |
| Government Response | 7 |
| The Crisis Catalyst | |
| Purpose of the Study | 8 |
| Research Questions | |
| Definitions of Key Terms | |
| Organization of the Dissertation | |
| CHAPTER 2 | 13 |
| REVIEW OF THE RELATED LITERATURE | 13 |
| Key Factors Influencing Change in an Organization | 13 |
| Leadership | 14 |
| Change Agents | 17 |
| Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) | 20 |
| Transition Management | 21 |
| Perceived Validity of the Change | 22 |
| Cultural Support | 24 |
| Behavioural Processes Influencing Change in the Organization | |
| Relations Among Groups and Individuals | 26 |
| Cooperation, Conflict Resolution and | |
| Communication | |
| Controlling and Rewarding Behaviour | 27 |
| Participative Problem-Solving | 27 |
| Impact | 28 |
| Environment | 32 |
| Developing the Conceptual Framework | |
| The Environment-Input-Process-Output Concept | 36 |
| The Impact Concept | 37 |
| Summary | 37 |
| CHAPTER 3 | |
| RESEARCH METHOD AND DESIGN | 39 |
| Purpose of the Research | 39 |
| Case Approach | 39 |
| Rationale | .40 |
| Selecting the Case | .42 |
| Formulating the Research Problem | |
| Data Gathering | |
| Instrumentation | |
| Question Development | .44 |

| Sample Selection | 47 |
|---|---------|
| Pilot Test | |
| Interview Arrangements | 48 |
| Documentation | 49 |
| Transitional Monitoring Team Report 1 | 49 |
| Transitional Monitoring Team Report 2 | 50 |
| 1998 Review of the 1995 Restructuring | |
| of the Division | |
| Data Analyses | 51 |
| The Conceptual Framework | |
| Environment | 53 |
| Input | 55 |
| Factors and Behavioural Processes | 55 |
| Output | |
| Impact | 58 |
| Trustworthiness | |
| Host Verification | |
| Triangulation and Corroboration | |
| Ethical considerations | |
| Limitations | |
| Delimitations | |
| Assumptions | |
| Summary | 64 |
| CHAPTER 4 | 65 |
| PROFILE OF THE INSTITUTION, DIVISION, PARTICIPANTS, | ,,,,,,, |
| STAKEHOLDERS, AND CROSS-FUNCTIONAL TEAMS | |
| The Postsecondary Institution | |
| Institutional Change Hardiness | |
| The Division | |
| Organizational Structure | |
| Participants and Stakeholder Groups | 70 |
| Participants | |
| Stakeholder Groups | 70 |
| Characteristics of Stakeholder Groups | |
| Preparation for Change | |
| Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) | |
| Selecting the Continuous Quality Improvement (C | |
| Team | |
| The CQI Mandate | |
| CQI Recommendations | |
| The Transition Monitoring Team (TMT) | |
| Summary | |

| CHAPTER | .5 | 8 |
|----------------|---|-----|
| FIN | DINGS AND DISCUSSION | 8 |
| | Variable One: Environment | 81 |
| | Variable Two: Inputs | 83 |
| | Variable Three: Factors and Behaviour Processes | 89 |
| | Key Factors | |
| | Leadership and Change Agents | 89 |
| | Perceived Validity of the Change | |
| | Supportive Culture | |
| | Behaviour Processes | |
| | Relationships, Cooperation, Conflict, and | |
| | Communication | 103 |
| | Controlling and Rewarding Behaviour | 108 |
| | Problem-Solving – Participative or Top-Dow-n | |
| | Variable Four: Outputs | |
| | Variable Five: Impact | |
| | Student Impact | |
| | Instructor Impact | |
| | Organization Impact | |
| | Summary | |
| | | |
| CHAPTER | 6 | 122 |
| SUN | MMARY, CONCLUSIONS, RECOMMENDATIONS AAND | |
| IMF | PLICATIONS | 122 |
| | Summary of the Study | 122 |
| | Purpose | 123 |
| | Justification | 123 |
| | Method | 123 |
| | Findings | 124 |
| | Conclusions | |
| | Key Factors | 125 |
| | Behavioural Processes | 128 |
| | Impact | |
| | Contributions to Theory | |
| | Recommendations for Practice | |
| | Recommendations for Further Research | 138 |
| | Implications | 140 |
| | Personal Comments | 141 |
| | | |
| BIBLIOGR | APHY | 145 |
| APPENDIC | YFS | |
| A | Interview Guide | 152 |
| В | Research Proposal and Institutional Approval | 155 |
| C | Consent To Participate In Sustainable Change Research | 158 |
| | - | |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 3.1 | Stakeholder Responses | 51 |
|-----------|---|----|
| Table 4.1 | Organizational Hierarchy Before and After the Change | 69 |
| Table 4.2 | Timeline From Funding Reduction to Current Organization | 73 |
| Table 6.1 | Key Factors: Current Theory Versus Current Practice1 | 33 |
| Table 6.2 | Behaviour Processes: Current Theory Versus Current Practice | 34 |
| Table 6.3 | Difference Between Impact Theory and Practice | 35 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1 | Political Resolutions in Top Management | 15 |
|----------|---|-----|
| Figure 2 | Conceptual Framework to Study Factors and Behaviour Processes | |
| | that Sustain Change, and the Resulting Impact | 35 |
| Figure 3 | A Proposed Model for Postsecondary Change | 137 |

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Change has become an integral part of business, industry, and organizational life. Organizations routinely examine their structures, re-engineer their systems, and resource training programs to improve productivity and efficiency. Most postsecondary education institutions, however, have embraced change more slowly than business and industry.

Emberley (1996) in Zero Tolerance summarizes the state of affairs in Canadian universities. "The academic world, with its high levels of abstraction and apparent remoteness from the immediacy of the political fray in which social issues are debated, has seemed not particularly pertinent to the well-being of Canadians" (p.1). Further, he describes the debate between the public and the university this way: "outside observers call for 'accessibility, accountability and efficiency' while the university response is 'equity, academic freedom and autonomy' "(p. 256). This sentiment is echoed by Girard and Uhl (1992) when they state "the Canadian higher education scene today reveals an overly stable faculty which is suffering because of few additions and frequently no replacements" (p. 96). Since there has been little change or requirement for change, a conclusion from these two authors reflects on an institution's change hardiness, or ability to change or accept change as a result of experience with change. These authors, together with pressure from provincial governments, reflect a growing pressure on educational institutions to change, in keeping with changes in the world.

Provincial governments have responded to public pressure by instituting funding cuts and accountability measures for postsecondary institutions. These measures precipitated the need for a response from postsecondary institutions in the form of rapid change. The immediacy of the response means there has been little regard to researching the most appropriate focus for change within the institution, much less the best way to implement this change. Further, there has been little attention paid to how to make the change "stick."

The Challenge of Change in Postsecondary Education

Many organizations struggle through the process of change, only to find that once the change occurs the challenge is to keep the change from backsliding to the old way of doing things. Lippitt, Langseth, and Mossop (1985) characterize the loss to the organization that is incurred in backsliding as four critical losses:

Competence deteriorates because of new roles, procedures attitudes, and needed skills; relationships are warped due to revised organization structure and removed physical settings; power is dispersed as people enter different environments and old threads are parted; and intrinsic rewards are devalued as a result of altered relative positions in the organization hierarchy or diminished opportunity for promotion that would have been there had not the table of organization been shifted (p. 104).

The cost of the change effort, both in hard dollars and human effort, is significant. When a change is implemented but is not sustained, there is a considerable waste of the resources involved in making the change. Schneider, Brief and Guzzo (1996) summarize the cost to the organization as follows:

It happens all too often. A company introduces changes with high expectations of improving performance. When the changes fail to take root and produce intended results, the unfulfilled hopes lead management to introduce other seemingly promising changes. These, too, ultimately fail. The sequence repeats an unending cycle of high expectations

followed by failure and, inevitably, frustration for management and cynicism for workers (p. 6).

Fullan (1982) uses the term "continuation" to describe sustainability in educational institutions. He says "the problem of continuation is endemic to all new programs regardless of whether they arise from external initiatives or are internally developed" (p. 77). Further, he says the most discouraging prospect in understanding the continuation process "is the realization that it is not linear and is never-ending. [Each factor] must be *continually* borne in mind and attended to when need be" (p.77). To give some idea of how circular the process of change, leading to sustained outcome is, Fullan concludes:

"There is a logic to the change process in which factors affecting adoption and implementation results in (1) more or less implementation (degree of implementation), which affects (2) attitudes to the innovation and (3) the quality of the impact -- and attitudes and impact in turn contribute to the likelihood of (4) continuation. The entire process influences (5) our attitude to school improvement" (p.78).

The causes of "backsliding" are complex. There may be resistance to change or there may be external unplanned forces. Fullan (1993) suggests these forces are inevitable, such as "government policy changes or gets constantly redefined, key leaders leave, important contact people are shifted to another role, new technology is invented, a bitter conflict erupts" (p.19). Another reason cited for backsliding is: "due to increased expectations on behalf of the various customers for education, the general expectation in education is that 'more and more innovation is needed" (p. 23). Indeed, he notes "the main problem in public education is not resistance to change, but the presence of too many innovations mandated or adopted uncritically and superficially on an ad hoc

fragmented basis" (p. 23). In order to determine whether the change in this case was another innovation, adopted uncritically, another question was developed for the sustained change case: did management and staff believe the change is a valid response to a driving force?

Rowley, Lujan and Dolence (1997) focus more on the resistance to change aspect and the reasons for this resistance. They say the complacency which faculty enjoy is often fueled by their view of themselves as experts who "do not heed others well, have a bias for tradition, enjoy protection offered by existing process, and are insulated from external pressures" (p. 78).

Bridges (1991), outlines the need for a planned transition to change, otherwise people will be unable to "let go of the present before they can get to the future" (p. 32). Likewise, Egan (1995) points out that without a strategic process in place for change, "change programmes sow the seeds of their own failure" (p. 120).

The authors of change literature, cited in Chapter 2, indicate that there are four factors that will sustain a change. One factor is the leadership, or people who hold positions of power in the organization. Another factor is the change agent, or people or institutions that are in a position to facilitate a change. A third factor is the perceived validity of a change initiative; i.e., how valid is the need for a change, given the cost and effort required to make the change and maintain it.

The fourth factor is the readiness of the culture to support a change effort.

In addition to these factors effecting change, Harrison (1994) outlines several processes that need to be in place to ensure a change will "stick." The

processes he outlines are those of behaviour and communication contained in patterns of behaviour and relations among groups and individuals (p. 30).

Harrison also discusses the importance of participative decision-making in order to ensure agreement of the goals and procedures to establish the change (p. 40).

In addition to the factors and processes that ensure a change will be sustained, Fullan (1982) suggests that it is not enough to have a sustained change. He says the change effort is negated if the impact or result or outcome of the change has not improved the organization in some way. Specifically, the improvement should be reflected in student benefits, instructor development, or organization improvement as a whole.

Thus, the importance of sustainability of a change effort has been established in the literature and in the experience of both public and private organizations. This chapter outlines the context in which this study took place, specifically, the current public attitude toward education, the driver, or crisis catalyst for the change, and the research model used to measure factors and processes in the change that has been sustained for over three years. It will outline the main sources of literature used to develop a model of change factors and behaviour processes, as well as the impact of the change investigated in the study. The chapter will conclude with an outline of the organization of the dissertation chapters.

Contextual Factors Affecting Postsecondary Education

The context in which the study took place includes the current public attitude toward education and the growing concerns of government regarding

education "deliverables": i.e., the outcomes or results expected from a resource that takes so many tax dollars to support.

There has been very little radical change in postsecondary institutions in Canada, including administration practices and curriculum delivery. Institutions have become more entrenched in their administration and delivery of education in a traditional manner. Dolence and Donald (1995) describe a traditional 20th century educational institution as one who uses key performance indicators that includes administrative cost per full time student, average grade point average for incoming freshmen, four-year graduation rate of students, number of degrees awarded, number of parking spaces, number of students in each major, tuition revenue, and student/faculty ratio (p.76). These indicators, used to measure the performance or achievement of educational institutions, does not reflect program effectiveness, student satisfaction, or competitive comparisons with other institutions.

The context of this study includes the external environmental factors of public attitude, government response, emerging student profile, and the national trend as the environment in which postsecondary institutions operate. The context also discusses the internal environmental factors of the postsecondary institution under study and the Division under study.

Public Attitude

Environmental factors affecting Canadian postsecondary institutions have been identified by Emberly (1996) in *Zero Tolerance*, wherein he describes the changed expectations of taxpayers, students, and government constituents. He

describes the focus of public attention on higher education as being due to taxpayers' changing expectations about their status as customers of education. They believe that, as customers, they have a right to dictate to the institutions what they expect in the way of service. This reflects a change in public attitude from the traditional view that academia is in control of its own environment, and that highly educated individuals' motives could not be questioned.

Government Response

The Alberta government issued an invitation in 1994 to individuals and groups to participate in the planning process on budget and policy initiatives. In response to growing public dissatisfaction with postsecondary educational institutions in Alberta, the Alberta Government published the Vision for Change (1995) document. This document espoused the belief that a rapid change in technology has precipitated a correspondingly rapid change in how the public want to receive their education: by technology, without regard for time and space. In other words, the public want access to education via distance learning, such as through the Internet or through some other technological device. This means students can gain access to education any place, including their own home, and that education should be received at the convenience of the student, at any time. The electronic information highway has created a belief that education should become as convenient, expedient, and accommodating as the technology allows. Accordingly, the Alberta government has instituted 'envelopes' of money that postsecondary institutions can apply for in preparation for technological delivery of education. This reflects a shift in postsecondary education

institutional policy, with resources allocated to development and delivery of non-traditional education.

The Crisis Catalyst

The event in the external environment acting as a crisis catalyst driving the change for the institution was a major decrease in funding to postsecondary institutions in Alberta in 1995. Specifically, a 21% reduction in funding over three years caused every postsecondary institution in the province to reevaluate how they planned their business and educational activities and therefore their budget strategy. All Divisions were charged with individually responding to the 21% reduction. There was no central decision to cut management levels. Each Division decided how to meet the cuts differently. What is unique about the Division in this case is that it met the target reductions through a solution arrived at through a participative staff process. The solution was a reduction in senior management. No other Division met the target in this way and therefore no other Division currently uses this management structure.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to identify key factors and behavioural processes that contribute to a sustained change in a particular postsecondary education institution. In addition, an understanding of the impact of the change on the postsecondary institution was explored.

Research Questions

In order to understand change in postsecondary education, one Division in

a large Western Canadian technical institution which had recently undergone fairly substantial change and sustained it was studied in depth. The following two general research questions were guided by this study:

- (1) What were the key factors and behavioural processes that sustained change in a postsecondary institution?
- (2) What were the impacts of the change on students, instructors, and the organization?

In order to answer these questions, four subsidiary research questions were developed, to gain a comprehensive understanding of this Division's experience with change.

- 1.1 What resources were assigned to the change?
- 1.2 What were the key factors that contributed to sustainability?
- 1.3. What were the key processes that contributed to sustainability?
- 2.1 What has been the impact of the change?

These general research questions, and their subsidiary questions, along with an explanation regarding their significance to the analysis of this case, are explained in Chapter Three.

Definitions of Key Terms

The following terms are defined in the context of this study:

Accountability

Accountability has become a key performance indicator, forcing postsecondary institutions to become "accountable" or responsible to the government for fiscal performance.

Backsliding

Regression to a former state, especially in a change that cannot be maintained.

Change

Change is the result of a need to respond to influences that require a change to take place, transforming some former state to a new, current state.

Change agents

Change agents are processes that are used to effect change, such as Continuous Quality Improvement and Transition Monitoring Teams.

Change Hardiness

Organizations that have experienced more change become change hardy. They are able to plan and implement change in a more accepting way than an organization that has not experienced any change.

Clusters

The name given to the group of programs that previously existed as individual programs, but were, as a result of the restructuring, "clustered" together (3 or 4 programs) under one team leader.

Drivers for change

The driver that influenced change in this organization was the funding reduction.

Stakeholder Groups

Groups of people, identified in this case by organizational strata, who are involved in a change or who might be affected by or interested in the outcomes of the change, as a group.

Sustainable change

Change that is stable while it meets the needs of the organization and has lasted for some period of time.

Organization of the Dissertation

The dissertation is divided into 6 chapters. This chapter identifies current forces for change that drove the Division being studied into a change process that resulted in organizational restructuring. At the time of this study (1998) the change had been sustained for over three years, regardless of the fact that no other Division in the organization restructured in order to achieve the result required, which was to meet funding reductions. Only the Division studied used a Team Leadership model to meet operational needs. This model did not have the support of the institution, but the Division was able to sustain its leadership design.

Chapter 2 provides a review of the literature relative to the factors, processes and impact of sustainable change. It summarizes the literature required to understand usual factors and processes in change as well as the literature for impact analysis or change in educational settings. It concludes with a conceptual model that provided the basis for the design of the questions, explained in Chapter 3.

Chapter 3 delineates the methodological approach used to study the Division and obtain the data for analysis. It includes the process used to analyze the data. Chapter 4 describes the case that was chosen for study. It identifies and defines the institution, the Division, the stakeholder groups, and the two change agent models: the Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) team, and the Transition Monitoring Team (TMT).

Chapter 5 details the findings for the key factors, behavioural processes, and impact of the change. A summary of responses and a stakeholder analysis,

where appropriate, are provided for each question.

Chapter 6 presents the summary, conclusions, recommendations and implications of the study. As a direct result of the findings and analysis presented in Chapter 5, this final chapter proposes a new model of change that can be specifically applied to postsecondary institutions.

The dissertation concludes with a bibliography and appendices. The appendices include copies of pertinent correspondence, interview schedules, and tables of data sorted by stakeholder groups.

CHAPTER 2

REVIEW OF THE RELATED LITERATURE

This chapter reviews literature pertaining to factors and processes that sustain change in organizations. During the review, it became clear that the change literature did not differentiate between organizational change in postsecondary education from that of corporations. The assumption that appeared to be made by change authors was that change research would apply to any organization, regardless of type. Therefore, to prepare for this study, the majority of the literature reviewed applied to change in corporations. In addition, literature that specifically discussed change in education was reviewed. The most relevant and current literature on change led to a conceptual framework against which to conduct the research for this study. This fact, of literature mostly appearing in management literature, is borne out by Hardy's (1996) research in which she cautions postsecondary institutions to be cautious in their application of "canned" management strategies, which she outlines as ignoring the specific character of the collegial approach in the university setting.

Key Factors Influencing Change in an Organization

Change literature indicated several factors that influence change. The four factors reviewed are: leadership, change agents, validity, and cultural support.

This study focused on determining if the sustainable change that occurred could be related to any one of the four factors described in the literature. In order to analyze this, the following sections first describe the literature used to resource

each key factor. Second, authors are compared or contrasted in their views on each of the factors.

Leadership

In this section, literature is reviewed that pertains to the importance of leadership during change. Two concepts of leadership: the relationship of leaders to their subordinates, and, the importance of gaining commitment, are discussed from the point of view of several authors in the field of leadership.

The first concept, the relationship of leaders to their subordinates, is discussed by Hersey and Blanchard (1993), and, Greiner and Schein (1988). These authors describe sustained change through use of authoritative power, and the trust their followers have in their right to that power. In the Hersey and Blanchard Situational Leadership model, the less the subordinates are ready for change (unwilling or unable to change), the more a leader must be involved in implementing a change (provide specific instructions and closely supervise the change process). As subordinates move toward more readiness for change (able and confident or willing to change), a leader must relax involvement in the change process (turn over responsibility for decisions and implementation) (p. 485 - 488). Greiner and Schein postulate that if a Chief Executive Officer (CEO) asserts influence to effect change, and staff who directly report to the CEO accept this influence, then movement toward the change is accelerated and is more likely to be sustained (p.162 - 165). Therefore, resistance or support depends solely on the reaction of the CEO and that CEO's subordinates and no other factor. Figure 1 shows how a change could be accepted and sustained, depending on the

willingness of key subordinates as a group to accept the CEO's influence, and the willingness of the CEO to assert influence over the group.

Figure 1: Political Resolutions in Top Management

| High | | |
|--|-----------------|--|
| Willingness of key subordinates | Passive loyalty | Active consensus |
| as a group to accept Chief Executive Officer's influence | Peer rivalry | Covert resistance |
| Low | | |
| | _ | High Chief Executive Officer ence over the group |

Source: Greiner and Schein (1988) p. 164

In the leadership authoritative power concept, leaders retain the power and relinquish it as they want or feel they should. Followers accept the power only as it is given to them, believing they are only entitled to the power if it is given by the leader.

The second concept of leadership reflects the importance of gaining commitment from followers. Lewin's study (as cited in Hersey & Blanchard, 1993) identified the phases of the change process: unfreezing, changing, refreezing, and the responsibility of the leader in these phases. In the unfreezing phase, the leader motivates the subordinates to see the need for change. In the changing phase, the leader creates a situation where subordinates can internalize

the change, either through force (rewards or punishments) or compliance (supervision) opportunities. Refreezing occurs when the new behaviour becomes integrated or internalized. Lewin suggests that unless reinforcement occurs, there is a danger that the new behaviour will be extinguished over time.

The importance of gaining commitment, is also discussed by Bennis and Nanus (1997), and, Block (1993). Bennis and Nanus make a distinction between managers and leaders. They say managers are those who focus on managing resources of capital, human skills and raw materials, making sure the job gets done with a high level of quality. Leaders, however, focus on a vision of what the work could be, and in the process garner commitment of staff through trust (p. 85). The other important point made by Bennis and Nanus is that once the vision is communicated, it must be reinforced through continual communication. It is reinforced through the "strategy and decision-making process. It must be constantly evaluated for possible change in the light of new circumstances" (p. 101). Further, they say "if the organization is to be successful, the image must grow out of the needs of the entire organization and must be claimed or owned by all the important actors. In short, it must become part of a new social architecture in the organization" (p. 101). Block also uses the term "architecture" to describe the structure in an organization and the roles of managers and staff, as well as rewards, are all part of the complexity of commitment to change (p. 100). He says a flattened hierarchy with fewer managers means "there are fewer supervisors and therefore fewer people watching, which means core workers can exercise more choice" (p.102). This is "useful in illustrating the intent of

becoming as congruent as possible in affirming partnership and keeping an organization's attention on service rather than on command and control" (p. 104).

Change Agents

Change agents are those forces, both internal and/or external to the organization, that cause the need for a change to be considered. In this section, literature is reviewed that pertains to the relationship of change agents to sustained change. Several sources were reviewed, leading to two ways of looking at change agent status. The first set of sources reviewed change agents as the people who facilitate change in an organization. The second set of sources reviewed change agents as a process or set of processes that are instrumental in facilitating change in an organization.

Havelock (1973), Baldridge (1975), Ottaway (1979), and Buchanan and Badham (1999) all refer to the change agent as a person who facilitates change in various ways. Havelock uses a model of six stages for a change agent to become familiar with and use in implementing change. The change agent steps through the stages of building relationships, diagnosing problems, and choosing solutions. Baldridge also uses stages, or "rules" to enhance the change outcome. These rules involve giving serious attention to the problem by ensuring the change agent has all the information and that the organization consider the result of serious changes because the organizational structure as well as attitudes will be altered. In the final analysis, a rule is that only changes that are both politically and economically feasible, ensuring the changes solve diagnosed problems, should be made. Ottaway has collected the case studies of various change agents, showing

how they effected the change in their organization. Buchanan and Badham documented the importance of the change agent engaging in political activity to effect change. All of these sources attribute change to an individual who employs various strategies to effect change.

A slightly different view of the change agent role was proposed by Schein (1969), who defined a change agent not so much as an individual who uses personal power to effect a change, but as a process consultant, who works with management so that they "perceive, understand, and act upon process events which occur in the client's environment" (p. 9). A process consultant is sometimes referred to an action researcher. This is a person who, according to Weir (1979), establishes a collaborative relationship between the researcher (change agent) and the organization to create a new process (p. 91). Lippitt (1985) also refers to action research as a process, or a collection of data about an ongoing system relative to some objective or goal, providing feedback to the system, so that the system can continually be improved (p. 132).

A different way of looking at change and change agents was proposed by Shapiro and Levine (1999), Small (1995), and Hamlin, Reidy and Stewart (1997) who used the term change agent to mean a process. Shaprio and Levine referred to these change agents as "change levers." They identify five levers that can be used in higher education: institutional mission statements, strategic planning processes, periodic campus reviews of departments and colleges, collaboration between departments and colleges and external reviews (p. 46). Small surveyed postsecondary institutions to find out what was considered to be a change agent,

external to a postsecondary institution. He sent out questionnaires to Canadian colleges and universities to determine if there was change occurring in postsecondary institutions, and if it was, what change agents did respondents believe had influence over lasting change. In the survey, Small asked what was considered as a significant change. Forty-six percent of responding colleges reported a significant change to be one in managerial structure (p. 118). Institutional boards and administration, provincial government or government agencies, academic faculty, students, federal government, and the public at large were perceived to have influenced change in the institutions. Respondents perceived the greatest influence over change to be provincial governments (p. 121). A recurring theme in the survey Small conducted is the use of Total Quality Management (TQM) as an approach to sustain change (p. 125). Hamlin, Reidy and Stewart (1997) studied the British Civil Service to determine if Organizational Development (OD) interventions were important influencers of sustained change. The statements gathered during the workshops showed what participants thought was effective or ineffective managerial behaviour. The intervention provided by the OD workshops was deemed successful in stimulating a transformational shift, or reduction in management. The British case refers to this reduction in management as delayering. The net effect of the TQM process was a recommendation to delayer management levels from 21 to 5. The success of the intervention was evidenced by other teams in the Division beginning to implement their own workshops. The similarity between the British study and the postsecondary study undertaken in this research is the delayering that took place

through a TQM intervention. The British Civil Service Division went from 21 "collections" (similar to programs or units) to 14 collections, and eventually to 5 collections or levels of management. Because of the findings regarding the importance of TQM in the Small and Hamlin, Reidy, and Stewart studies, the literature regarding the place of TQM or Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) in higher education is reviewed.

Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI)

Various sources refer to CQI as Total Quality Management (TQM), Total Quality Improvement (TQI), or Total quality (TQ). In this study, I will use CQI, as it is reflective of the term used in this case.

Chaffee and Sherr (1992) wrote a publication specifically for postsecondary education, applying quality tools and techniques to processes.

TQM provides very few answers; rather, it poses key questions and provides an array of potential methods through which the organization's participants can answer them. Participants themselves must shoulder the responsibility of creating a continuously improving organization, and an essential element of the transformation is that they apply their own expertise toward continuous improvement (p. 8).

The TQM approach to solving problems is to use participants from the organization to work out the solution themselves. Chaffee and Sherr (1992) include in the approach a cross-functional team. "Cross-functional teams are common in TQM because they can help ensure that a solution will work for all affected parties" (p.16). "When the team includes representatives of diverse roles, team members can knowledgeably discuss what happens at various steps and why. They can explain their needs as beneficiaries of preceding steps and ask those who work later in the process about their needs" (p. 65). Further, the

authors say that

the value of teamwork is well established in research, especially when a problem is complex and ambiguous, as in many organizational processes. Teamwork helps people develop a shared sense of responsibility, reducing the amount of stress felt by any one person, allowing all team members to see how their work contributes to the whole, and building relationships among them that improve their work in other areas (p. 64).

This discussion of the workings of CQI in an educational setting shows how cross-functional teams, working together to find solutions to complex problems, will produce a solution in which they share responsibility and understanding of the complexity of the issues and the consequences of the decision.

Shmoker and Wilson (1993) agree with the findings of Chaffee and Sherr (1992) in their case studies of various schools who were successful in the use of CQI to effect change. "All schools made a priority of time for meetings and took creative measures to provide it" (p. 149). In order to become a learning organization, a "deliberate effort for teachers and managers to talk and observe each other in educative settings provides synergism that brings out the best in everyone" (p. 149).

Another change agent process that was identified in the literature was the management of transition from the existing state to the new state. Attention to the transition may sustain the change.

Transition Management

Once a change initiative is decided upon and the change begins to take place, the organization assumes the role of helping to move the change along, so it doesn't get stuck or start to backslide. Kanter, Stein and Jick (1992), and Bridges (1991) call this process "making it happen" and "transition leadership." Kanter,

Stein and Jick propose a model for "Making it Happen and Making it Stick" (p. 508). Their model is based on involving staff and management in both decision-making and implementing the required changes. These authors are in favour of participative problem solving. This type of solution building is also part of Bridges' model. Bridges believes that the key to sustainable change is transition management. Transition is the period between the old way of doing things and the new, proposed way of doing things. He calls this transition the "neutral zone" between ending and beginning. In recognizing the neutral zone, management could experience decreased staff morale, increased absenteeism, miscommunication, poor priority setting and a higher staff turnover (p. 35). Bridges proposes that the solution to prevent or minimize these issues is communication (p. 49). He believes that the more information all participants have during the transition, the likelier the transition will be smoother, and will reach the beginning of the new phase quicker. Bridges' research devotes a great deal of time to the neutral, or transition, zone.

Perceived Validity of the Change

The third factor sustaining change is validity, or the perception by the staff that the change is valid and required. In this section, literature is reviewed that pertains to the validity of the change. Owens (1998) agrees that organizational development interventions should be centered around a valid change so that true, sustainable change can be effected. The opposite effect is "partial, incomplete, short-term activities lacking the planning, scope, and sustained effort required for success" (pp. 316-317). Further, Owens says change is more likely to happen

when an educational institution "seeks to develop an internal capacity for continuous problem solving. The processes of renewal include the increased capacity to sense and identify emerging problems" (p. 303). In summary, Owens shows that educational institutions are more receptive to change if they feel the change is valid; however, the solution to the change needed is more likely to be sustained if workers and managers solve mutual problems together (p. 326). Owens also deals with Total Quality Management in association with problem solving, since the TQM process involves using teams of staff to resolve issues. Staff must acknowledge that there is a need for change; therefore, the change is valid. The second point is that the staff should support the solution in order to support the required change, possibly through a TQM process.

Bridges (1991) also categorized selling the problem that is the reason for the change as "very important. Do this at once" (p. 14). Bridges states most managers and leaders put 10% of their energy into selling the problem and 90% into selling the solution to the problem. People are not in the market for solutions to problems they don't see, acknowledge, or understand. They might even come up with a better solution than yours, and then you will not have to sell it — it will be theirs (p. 15). Bridges makes two points: first, we need to show how important the validity of the change is and, second, how important a participative solution is in making a sustained change.

Both Owens (1998) and Bridges (1991) show how to reduce resistance to change through an approach of selling the staff on the validity of the need for change. They also outline the importance of a TQM process. The first salient

point from this research is that staff must believe change is a valid response to a real need. The second point is that the method of determining the response (through a TQM process) is connected to validity.

Cultural Support

In this section, literature is reviewed that pertains to the support the institution provided to the Division implementing change. Schneider, Brief and Guzzo (1996) addressed organizational change strategy based on preparing the climate and culture for sustainability. The result of their review of changes at AT&T, General Motors, Ritz-Carlton and IBM Rochester shows that changes are more likely to stick when the organization is ready, and the change strategy refers to the entire organization. They noted that a change, such as the organizational hierarchy change in this study, is effective when structural changes are associated with changes in the psychology of employees. Further, each organization reviewed needed a crisis in order to have a valid change. AT&T went through divestiture and GM experienced a huge loss in market share. These examples point to a need for radical action. To summarize, the first criteria for change to be sustained is that prevailing conditions are important at the start of the change effort. The second criteria for change to last is the way it is introduced. The findings of these authors indicated that the probability of change taking root is more likely when work is challenging, decisions are participative, and interpersonal relationships are characterized by mutual trust. In this journal article, Schneider, Brief and Guzzo review current methods associated with organizational change, where they show that the TQM approach is most closely

affiliated with the four key dimensions outlined above.

Pawar and Eastman (1997) have linked culture to transformational leadership as it relates to the ability of leaders to influence change. In fact, they say organizational context must exist, which in turn influences organizational receptivity to transformational leadership. Their term for culture, is contextual influence, and they have concentrated their research on contextual influence based on four factors: an organizational emphasis on efficiency and adaptation orientation; a relative dominance of technical core and boundary-spanning units in the organizational task system; organizational structure; and, mode of governance. They conclude that a clan mode of governance will be more receptive to transformational leadership than a bureaucratic mode of governance. Their analysis of culture based on these four factors led to a conclusion that leaders can be successful by using these factors through confrontation and reshaping these factors, or by knowledge of these factors and harnessing them as instruments in the change process.

Chaffee and Jacobson (1997) identify the requirements for change in postsecondary institutions, as follows:

Increasingly, leaders are exhorted to "transform" their institutions -- essentially, to turn them into something new. While planning is necessary for transformation, it is insufficient to accomplish that. The magnitude of the task calls for the development of a new, shared vision of what the institution wishes to become (p. 232).

Further, the authors point out how difficult it is to achieve a shared vision in postsecondary institutions, given the subcultures present.

Institutions with diverse subcultures need a shared vision to unite people and coordinate action, but their very diversity makes this difficult to

achieve. For example, administrators may seek high enrollment, efficiency, or accountability, while faculty may seek smaller classes, more travel funds, and fewer committees. These sets of goals are not necessarily mutually exclusive, but they illustrate fundamental differences in language and thought between the two subcultures. Before they can share a vision they need to find shared goals and language (p. 233).

In order to successfully involve other subcultures in a transformation, it is important to understand them. "Successful transformational planning efforts depend upon both a clear recognition of cultural flash points and the development of inclusive strategies designed to mitigate them" (p. 236).

This review of the literature has identified four key factors that should be present in an organization if change is to be sustained. These factors are: leadership, change agents, validity, and cultural support. In addition to key factors that sustain change, there are also important behavioural processes that are necessary to ensure sustained change in an organization.

Behavioural Processes Influencing Change in the Organization

The behaviours of cooperation and communication are mentioned by several authors as being important to the sustainability of change. Harrison (1994) developed a model illustrating the influence of behaviour on sustainability of change. He showed that behaviour could be tangible through observation of specific behaviour patterns evidenced through cooperation, conflict, coordination, communication, and rewards. In addition, the level of participation used in problem solving and goal setting could be an indicator of the processes influencing sustained change.

Relations Among Groups and Individuals

Positive relationships between groups and individuals create a climate of

openness to change. Further, sustained change requires that positive relationships continue through the transition of the change from the old to the new, and beyond.

Cooperation, Conflict Resolution and Communication

Harrison (1994) indicated that change would be more effective if there were "high levels of trust, open communication of feelings and needs between ranks, and a deemphasis of status differences" (p. 40). Porter, Lawler and Hackman (1975) agree that change will be sustained through cooperation, effected through team building activities such as questionnaires designed to measure communication and cooperation; process consultation designed to have the organization work together to diagnose communication problems; and, an interpersonal approach where teams consciously work together to improve communication (p. 458 - 463). These authors acknowledge that during change there will be conflict. The ability to develop conflict resolution skills and to apply them during resource allocation, problem solving, and goal setting allows more time to give priority to implementation of change strategies.

Controlling and Rewarding Behaviour

Organizations often institute rewards through money given to managers and staff for any savings in labor costs. Porter, Lawler, and Hackman (1975) indicate a reward system of this type "improves personal relations, increases individual productivity, and organizational profitability" (p. 459).

Participative Problem-Solving

Harrison (1994) and Pomrenke (1982) consider the importance of including staff in the development of solutions to be extremely important if

change is to be sustained. Pomrenke advocates training in order to develop teams to solve the organization's problems. The purpose of prior training is because

modern organizations are extremely complex systems that can no longer be managed single-handedly in the traditional "great president" mode. Problems must be solved through the efforts of people of diverse backgrounds, skills, and personalities. As information is shared in teams or work groups, the teams can become vehicles by which the understanding of and commitment to the organization can be enhanced. As people get a clearer idea of how their tasks relate to the goals of the organization and to the tasks of others around them, they are much more likely to accept those goals as their own (p. 38 - 39).

Levin (1998) found in colleges using TQM as a change agent that the organization was "altered significantly" (p. 416). In one college where TQM was introduced, it "precipitated internal change, empowering employees and involving everyone" (p. 416). Interestingly, TQM is also credited with leading to a college reorganization as a result of its introduction.

Impact

When an organization undertakes a change effort, it seems likely that the expected outcome would be an improvement to the status quo. If there is nothing to be gained by the change, then the "do nothing" alternative is more viable than the alternatives proposed by change agents.

Starke and Sexty (1995) review a logical pattern for introducing change that has, as a final step, the evaluation of the change. Evaluation of the change cannot usually take place immediately. An initial evaluation of the process around what went well and what could have gone better can be done immediately upon completion of the change implementation. However, it requires some set amount of time to lapse before a summative evaluation can be accomplished in

order to provide feedback on whether the problem has been solved and the system is working more efficiently. In many organizations this type of evaluation is not done. Bidwell and Lippitt's study (as cited in Lippitt, Langseth, and Mossop 1985), surveyed 76 consultants and clients to galin insight on the barriers to conducting evaluation, and ranked their findings as follows: lack of time ranked highest; and in descending order came lack of a frame of reference (criteria); failure to determine expectations in measurable iterms; lack of money for research; inability to convince management [of the need for an evaluation]; lack of effective research methods and tools; inadequate facilities and resources [for the research]; lack of cooperation between client and consultant; and magnitude of the research (p. 120).

Beckhard and Harris (1977) give two other reasons for lack of evaluation.

They cite a lack of serious consideration in the e-arly stages of change implementation so that no clear criteria are develloped against which to measure the effects of interventions. They also cite informal evidence of success or lack of success as being fairly obvious, and therefore management deems formal evaluations to be an unnecessary cost (p. 85).

Mohr (1992) defines impact analysis as "determining the extent to which one set of directed human activities affected the state of some objects of phenomena and - at least sometimes - determining why the effects were as small or large as they turned out to be" (p. 1). These impacts on the system can be evaluated to determine if they are positive (the extent to which the outcome matched the intended goals), negative (the extent to which the outcome is in direct

opposition to the intended goals), or whether there was some unintended impact on systems. Specifically, an evaluation should include an investigation into the side effects of the change effort. This will allow the researcher to investigate not only if the change addressed the problem satisfactorily or unsatisfactorily, but also if several other points in the process may have changed that were unintended.

Fullan (1982) discusses the institutionalization or continuation of change in education institutions. In this work, he stresses the importance of the impact of change. "After all, innovations are supposed to accomplish something worthwhile" (p. 77). Specifically, Fullan states these benefits as "student learning, teacher benefits (e.g., professional development), and organizational change (e.g., increased interaction, teaming) (pp. 77 - 78). Further, if there has been an impact, has it been a benefit as a result of the identified change [or as a result of some other environmental factor]. For students, if the change has "worked," the innovation or change should result in "heightened interest. It engages students in more interesting educational activities and increases the attainment of desired educational objectives" (p. 156). For teachers, "effective educational change in practice cannot occur without improvements in the teachers' work life" (p. 112). For the organization, Fullan does not present a clear picture of what successful change would look like.

Fullan (1991) further developed the concept of measuring impact on students, teachers and the organization. Students benefit where students have a heightened interest and engagement, where changes have been made "at the instruction and classroom level, and at the level of the school as an organization.

This results in enhanced student motivation, performance, and overall engagement in learning and the life of the school" (p. 184). Teachers benefit from the collegial approach. Fullan cautions, however, that one should not assume joint work is automatically more appropriate. "Contrived collegiality can lead to the proliferation of unwanted contacts among teachers which consume already scarce time. True collaborative cultures are 'deep, personal and enduring'" (p. 135-136). Organizations benefit from developing the people who populate them. They are then able to choose innovation wisely. "The greatest problem faced by school systems is not resistance to innovation but taking on too many changes indiscriminately. Selectivity and synergy replace ad hocism in institutionally developed organizations" (p. 349). Further, "interactive professionalism serves simultaneously to increase access to and scrutiny of each other's ideas and practices" (p. 349). Alliances with individuals and partnerships with institutions are powerful strategies.

Fullan (1993) describes change in the education system more globally than in his other works. Rather than seeing students, teachers, and the organization as different entities, he describes them as a dynamic complexity. "When cause and effect are not close in time and space and obvious interventions do not produce expected outcomes because other 'unplanned' factors dynamically interfere. The goal then is to get into the habit of experiencing and thinking about educational change processes as an overlapping series of dynamically complex phenomena" (pp. 20 - 21). In terms of impact, in this work Fullan no longer writes about the benefits of change. Rather, he focuses on what the individual and

the organization has learned that they can apply to the next change, in order to improve its outcome.

Fullan (1993) devotes a large part of his focus to the environment in which the new learning organization finds itself. Because of the continuous change that is "out there," the learning organization "learns to live with [their environments] interactively. Continuous change is built into the relationship because widespread interactions under conditions of dynamic complexity demand constant attention and movement" (p. 84).

Environment

The environment is also important in Harrison's (1994) model, which includes the dynamic, ever-changing, external environment. External conditions "influence the flow of inputs (resources) to organizations, affect the reception of outputs (in this study -- sustainable change), and can directly affect internal operations" (p. 30). The example of changing external conditions in this case is the government reduction in funding. The institution had no control over this decision and simply had to respond, with no set guidelines or practices to help in solution building. "An organization's success depends heavily on its ability to adapt to its environment" (p. 31). The external environment does "not necessarily correspond to the interests or priorities of top management" (p. 31).

Hanson (1996) in his work on educational administration and change, reviewed how change happens in a postsecondary institution, citing enforced change, expedient change, and essential change as the impetus for change.

Hanson discussed the resistance to this type of change that can be expected at the

individual level due to vested interests. However, resistance to change may be mitigated by the inability of staff to find work in any other sector. The environment was not conducive to staff leaving the technical institution to go back to the skill sector they had come from. The private sector, as stated by Andrews, Holdaway, and Mowat (1997), was "undergoing significant restructuring, downsizing, and massive changes in their organization and administration" (p. 89). So there was no other job available for instructors if they were to leave teaching. There was nothing to go back to.

Dennison and Gallagher (1986) point out that in the early 1970's (which is approximately when the institution being studied was commissioned), the "hierarchical structural model from the corporate world was in vogue" (p. 197). However, in the new circumstances, where "the rapid pace of change is the single most important phenomenon facing Canada's colleges in the years ahead, requiring an operating mode that is compatible with responding to, and providing, institutional change" (p. 201), a traditional hierarchy in an organization may not be the best structure to allow rapid change.

The literature reviewed suggests that there are many influences on change but if any of these influences lose power, position, or drive then the change that has taken place also loses power and the change is likely to backslide. The factors and processes identified throughout the review are meant to be considered when an organization wants to keep the change from backsliding. A conceptual framework guided the study.

Developing the Conceptual Framework

According to Miles and Huberman (1994), a conceptual framework provides, "either graphically or in a narrative form, the main things to be studied...the key factors, constructs or variables...and the presumed relationship among them" (p. 18). The conceptual framework was created to assist with the gathering of pertinent data and to construct the interview guide. Two main sources provide a conceptual framework for this study (see Figure 2). The "inputprocesses-output" open system model proposed by Harrison (1994) was useful in placing the processes that were identified in the literature into the framework. Two elements were identified, based on the literature review: key factors and behavioural processes. The key factors were: leadership, change agents, validity of the change, and, cultural support. The behavioural processes were: relations among groups and individuals including cooperation, obvious conflict and communication; controlling and rewarding behaviour; and problem-solving. Fullan's (1982) theory regarding the impact of any change regarding the benefits to student learning, instructor professional development, and, increased teaming or interaction in the organization was included in the framework. It seemed appropriate to find out if the change had any effect on the organization postimplementation.

The input column shows what available resources make up the content of input: people, funds, and time. The output column shows the result, i.e. sustained change. Environmental elements are noted at the top and bottom of the model to identify the surrounding contextual parameters of any change effort.

Figure 2: Conceptual Framework to Study Factors and Behaviour Processes that
Sustain Change, and the Resulting Impact

<-----E N V I R O N M E N T---->>>

FACTORS AND INPUT BEHAVIOUR OUTPUT IMPACT PROCESSES Resources Factors that Sustained Result Sustain Change Change People Leadership Funds Change agents > > Student > > > Time Perceived learning > > > validity of the > > > Instructor change > > > professional Cultural support > > > development > > > Behaviour > > > Increased **Processes that** > > interaction Sustain Change > > or teaming > > in the Relations among organization groups and individuals: cooperation, obvious conflict, communication Controlling and rewarding behaviour Problem solving

<-----ENVIRONMENT---->>>

Source: Adapted from Harrison (1994) pp. 28 - 55; Fullan (1982)

The Environment-Input-Process-Output Concept

Harrison (1994) uses the environment-input-process-output model diagnose organizational change. The four system elements (hereafter described as variables), i.e., environment, inputs, outputs, and processes, are particularly affected by a dynamic external environment that, because it is constantly changing and is not controlled by any one factor, provides a constant challenge to those trying to operate within that model. Harrison describes this first system variable (the environment) in this way:

Environment includes all the external organizations and conditions that are directly related to an organization's main operations and its technologies. They include funding sources, suppliers, distributors, unions, customers, clients, regulators, competitors, collaborative partners, markets for products and resources, and the state of knowledge concerning the organization's technologies. The *general environment* includes institutions and conditions having infrequent or long-term impacts on the organization and its task environment, including the economy, the legal system, the state of scientific and technical knowledge, social institutions such as the family, population distribution and composition, the political system, and the local or national cultures within which the organization operates (pp. 28-29).

Harrison describes the other system variables (inputs, behaviour processes, and outputs) and subcomponents of these variables as follows:

One key element [variable] is "inputs." The subcomponents of the input element are raw materials, money, people, equipment, information, knowledge, and legal authorizations that an organization obtains from its environment and that contribute to the creation of its outputs (p. 28).

The second key element [variable] is "behaviour and processes." These are the prevailing patterns of behaviour, interactions, and relations among groups and individuals. (p. 28).

The subcomponents, or elements, chosen for review are: four key factors, i.e., leadership, change agents, perceived validity of the change, and cultural support,

used in this study and were deemed appropriate variables to examine. The six behavioural processes, described by Harrison, are: relations among groups and individuals, cooperation, obvious conflict, communication, controlling and rewarding behaviour, and problem solving. Through observation of these influencers, we can determine whether there has been support or a lack of support for the change, and therefore which behaviours have influenced the sustainability of the change.

The last key element [variable] is "outputs." The subcomponents of the output element are products, services, and ideas that are the outcomes of organizational action. An organization transfers its main outputs back to the environment and uses others internally (p. 28).

The Impact Concept

The final aspect of the conceptual framework is impact or the results that emanate from change. In Fullan's (1982) discussion of institutionalization or continuation of change in education institutions, he stresses the impact of change. "After all, innovations are supposed to accomplish something worthwhile" (p. 77).

Summary

The literature chapter identifies the four key factors associated with sustained change: leadership, change agents, perceived validity of the change, and cultural support. This chapter also identifies six behaviour processes that sustain change: relations among groups and individuals, cooperation, obvious conflict, communication, controlling and rewarding behaviour, and problem solving. A discussion of the impact of change on an institution describes the

importance of determining if the change has been beneficial.

The systems model, (input, process, output, existing in a dynamic environment) proposed by Harrison (1994), combined with the impact theory proposed by Fullan (1982) led to the development of the conceptual framework (Figure 2) for this study. Operationalization of this model is described in Chapter 3 as a part of the research method and design.

CHAPTER 3

RESEARCH METHOD AND DESIGN

This chapter presents the method used to determine the research questions and gather, analyze, and report the data. In addition, the influence of the pilot study, the rationale for employing a qualitative approach to gathering data, and details regarding an embedded approach to the data are discussed. The methods of attaining reliability, credibility, and trustworthiness are also reviewed. Finally, the limitations, delimitations and assumptions that apply to this research are outlined.

Purpose of the Research

The major purpose of the study was to identify key factors and behavioural processes that contributed to the sustainability of a change effort in one Division of a Western Canadian postsecondary institution. A secondary purpose was to find out if the change had any impact on the postsecondary organization in which the change took place. In order to accomplish this, a case was selected where an administrative structural change occurred which has been sustained over a period of three years (as described in Chapter 4).

Case Approach

A modified case study approach was selected for this research, given the nature of the institution and the Division in which the change occurred. This section describes the rationale for using such an approach, the selection of the case, formulating the research problem and question development.

Rationale

Hartley (as cited in Cassell and Symon, 1995) described the case study approach as follows:

The strength of case studies lies especially in their capacity to explore social processes as they unfold in organizations. A case study allows for a processual, contextual and generally longitudinal analysis of the various actions and meanings which take place and which are constructed within organizations. Case studies are also useful where it is important to understand those social processes in their organizational and environmental context. Behaviour may only be fully understandable in the context of the wider forces operating within the organization whether these are contemporary or historical (p. 212).

This research benefits from the case study approach because the goal was to explore factors and processes as they unfolded over the three years. Another benefit was the ability to ensure every stakeholder group was represented in interviews.

Documentation alone would not give the rich data necessary to understand the various social processes which took place. Also it became apparent that only one interview, such as that with the Dean or the Academic Vice President, would not give the broad, in-depth information that was obtained through a much wider scope of interviewing.

Becker (1968) defines case studies as necessary "to arrive at a comprehensive understanding of the groups under study, and to develop general theoretical statements about regularities in social structure and process" (p. 233). The case study approach achieves these benefits because it accomplishes both a comprehensive understanding of the Division under study, and it allows theoretical statements to be developed.

Merriam (1988) defines a qualitative case study as an "intensive, holistic description and analysis of a single instance, phenomenon, or social unit" (p. 21). Use of a case study approach allowed the Division to be described in an intensive and holistic manner (see Chapter 4). Therefore the data obtained provides analysis of the phenomenon of sustainability.

Stake (1998) refers to three types of case study: intrinsic case study, instrumental case study, and collective case study. Using these definitions, the case study undertaken in this research is intrinsic and instrumental. An intrinsic case study "is undertaken because one wants better understanding of this particular case" (p. 88). An instrumental case study is where "a particular case is examined to provide insight into an issue or refinement of theory" (p. 88). In telling the story of the case, Stake states "one cannot know at the outset what the issues, the perceptions, the theory will be. Case researchers enter the scene expecting, even knowing, that certain events, problems, relationships will be important, yet discover that some actually are of little consequence" (p. 93).

Finally, Yin (1994), in his seminal work on case study research, outlined the practical use of a case study approach when the research question is "why." "Why questions are explanatory and likely to lead to the use of case studies...as the preferred research strategy. This is because such questions deal with operational links needing to be traced over time" (p. 6).

These authors define case studies and the conditions under which their uses as a research tool have merit. They support the belief that the case study methodology is a valid qualitative approach to research.

Selecting the Case

One Division of a postsecondary institution in Western Canada used a business approach and solution for an externally-imposed funding reduction. The institution and the Division are described in greater detail in Chapter 4. What is unique about this case is that no other Division in the institution used this business approach or type of solution. Most Divisions used the traditional standard of reducing staff and supplies, which had as one potential the possibility of directly affecting classroom dynamics. However, this Division used the approach of changing how it was organized and administered, with the specific written intention of not affecting classroom dynamics. Further, by the time I learned of the case in late 1997, the solution had been in place for three years, and had "stuck," even though there appeared to be no organizational support for the way the Division was newly structured. In fact, the structure caused some problems in interaction with the rest of the organization, since it was physically and philosophically different from other Divisions.

The case was ideal, because it was possible to define the boundaries around the case selected. The change in the Division was to the organizational administrative structure. The change occurred quickly, based on an external force (funding reductions imposed by the Provincial government) and three years later the Division was still in its changed state, neither backsliding to the old structure, nor incrementally changing to any new structure.

Formulating the Research Problem

The change that took place in the institution studied was of interest

because the change was in a single programming unit. The entire institution had not changed dramatically since its inception in 1963, nor had the entire institution changed as a result of the change in this Division, or of recent government funding reductions. Therefore, the research question centered on the notion that there were some factors or processes that had caused the change to be sustained for the three-year period.

Data Gathering

In order to answer the questions developed for this case, two methods were used in data gathering: interviews and documentation review. This section describes the instrumentation, including the interview process, the pilot test, and the documentation provided for analysis.

Instrumentation

Two strategies were used: semi-structured interviews which gathered the perspective of postsecondary faculty, administrators and staff; and, document analysis. Questions were generally open-ended (see Appendix A). Specific examples were sought as participants described situations related to the change process in this Division. These questions are described in this chapter under Question Development. Documents were the reports associated with the three-year change process. Specifically, the unpublished document from the crossfunctional team (Total Quality Management Team), Transition Monitoring Report 1, Transition Monitoring Report 2, and the Review of the 1995 Restructuring document, as described in this chapter under "Documentation."

Question Development

The concept of sustainable change, and further, the reasons why a change had been sustained in a postsecondary institution that did not appear to be change hardy (described in Chapter 4), led to two specific research questions:

1. What are the key factors and behavioural processes that sustain change in a postsecondary institution?

Business journals particularly looked at how major change was being sustained in business and industry, but there was very little information in the education literature on change with regard to organizational structure. Most change information in education literature at the time of the review was about curriculum.

2. What were the impacts of the change on students, instructors, and the organization?

The literature on change indicated that there should be some result, either positive or negative, intended or unintended, from a major change effort. In other words, the reason to undertake the change in the first place should be satisfied. Fullan (1995) further indicated that any change should not only obtain a result, but should also show an impact on students, instructors and the organization.

In order to answer these questions, four Subsidiary Research Questions were developed, with probes, for a comprehensive understanding of this Division's experience with change. The questions were then tried out in a pilot, described in the section titled Pilot Test. The Subsidiary Research Questions, their probes, and the rationale are explained.

1.1 What resources were assigned to the change?

Probes:

- (a) What was the organizational structure before the change began? This probe was asked to explain the difference between the original structure and the structure after the change process.
- (b) How was the organizational structure identified to be changed? This probe was asked to explain why the change was made to the organizational structure as opposed to, say, making use of a staff redundancy program.

1.2 What were the key factors that contributed to sustainability?

Probes:

- (a) Which key people influenced the change? This question was asked to determine who led the change. The purpose was to explore leadership and change agent data.
- (b) Did management and staff believe the structural change was a valid response to the need for funding cuts? This question was asked to determine if respondents believed in the necessity of the change.
- (c) Did the culture support the change? This question was asked to determine if other institution Divisions or administration supported the Division making the change.
- 1.3. What were the key processes that contributed to sustainability?

 Probes:
- (a) How did behaviour contribute to the success of the change?

 Additional probes included:
- (1) relations among groups and individuals such as team leaders, teams, union,

accrediting bodies and customers (students), staff, service areas, and program advisory committee members.

- (2) cooperation between team members and teams
- (3) conflicts between team members and teams
- (4) coordination of budgets
- (5) communication from leaders, peers, and monitoring teams
- (6) controlling and rewarding behaviour
- (7) problem solving was it participative or top-down.

These probes helped to identify behaviour of team members and leaders, which might identify them as being key processes to sustainable change.

2.1 What has been the impact of the change?

Probes:

- (a) What benefits were realized to student learning, instructor professionæl development, and increased interaction or moving to teams in the organizætion? This probe determined if there was a perception that the change had a positive or negative impact on the Division or the organization.
- (b) If you could change one thing, what would it be? This was asked as an openended question to allow open discussion.

These interview questions allowed me to interact with individuals odirectly connected with the change. In the interaction, it was possible to get a genuine understanding from the staff about their thoughts and feelings about the change process, specifically what made the change sustainable. The method of sellecting the sample and the arrangements to interview this sample are described.

Sample Selection

An application to conduct research was submitted to the Institutional Research Department (see Appendix B). Approval was granted on March 19, 1998 (see Appendix B). An initial meeting was held in April 20, 1998, with the Dean of the Division and his management team where the purpose of the study was outlined. Permission to interview staff who met the criteria was given.

To fit the interview criteria, participants must have been working in the Division at the time of the announcement of the 21% reduction in funding and still be working in the Division at the time of the study, a period of approximately three years. The Division supplied a list of 47 staff who met this criteria. In addition, six executive and three non-Division staff met the criteria. An electronic message, describing the study in detail and soliciting volunteers, was sent to all potential participants in early May, 1998. The goal was to have at least one person who fit the criteria from each stakeholder group in each cluster of Programs of Study (described in Chapter 4) to interview. Eighteen participants responded by mid-May. This was deemed adequate, as it represented participants from all stakeholder groups and all clusters. There was representation from all four clusters, including Team Leaders, instructors, and technical or administrative support staff. Six executive members, representing the entire population of executive involved in the change, agreed to be interviewed. Interviewing all executive provided a macro view of the institution (2 senior administrators: Academic Vice-President and Dean), as well as a micro view of the institution (4) Team Leaders). Five faculty (instructors) were representative of each cluster (one

from three clusters, one man/woman team from the last cluster). Four administrative and technical support staff represented each cluster. Three non-Divisional staff completed the number of 17 total interviews. The candidates for participation were the first 18 who represented the clusters and the stakeholder groups. Two requests for participation were sent out in order to achieve the broad coverage of stakeholder groups and clusters.

Pilot Test

In order to acquire background and insight about the specific academic unit being studied, a former Associate Dean of the Division was interviewed in a pilot approach to the research in May, 1998. The pilot helped to clarify and refine the interview questions. Initially, the questions were open-ended and vague. The interviewing style was more of a discussion beginning with the question, but advanced to other topics related, but not specific enough to the questions prepared. In transcribing this interview, the need to be more specific on the questions asked became apparent.

Interview Arrangements

Eighteen people volunteered for the interview process. After permission was gained from each person (see Appendix C), interviews were scheduled and held in private offices or meeting rooms, arranged through institutional administration. Each interview, conducted in May and June, 1998, took approximately one- to one-and-one-half hours to complete. All interviews were audio-taped and transcribed, then forwarded to the interviewee with a notation to edit (add or delete) the transcription until they were satisfied the document clearly

reflected their answers to the questions. All were returned by the end of June, 1998.

Documentation

Several important documents were used to triangulate the data. These documents were a Transitional Monitoring Team Report 1 (April 24, 1996), Transitional Monitoring Team Report 2 (May 30, 1997), and a 1998 Review of the 1995 Restructuring of the Division. A summary of these documents follows.

Transitional Monitoring Team Report 1. This report was presented to the Division Leadership Team (Dean, Associate Dean, and four Team Leaders, the Human Resources consultant, and the Dean's Assistant) almost one year after the change had been initiated. As noted earlier, the mandate of the Transitional Monitoring Team (TMT) was to assess, evaluate, and report on the impact of the recent administrative changes within the Division. The team was aided and guided by a CQI facilitator. The TMT used a CQI approach to gather information and formulate recommendations. The CQI approach meant that the TMT had a sponsor, a mandate that was approved, membership from all work groups, and a feedback mechanism to ensure that what was being discussed represented the feelings and interpretations from all levels. The outcome of this TMT was a series of nine proposals. Five proposals were workload-related and four were communication-related. The executive summary of this report described the strengths and weaknesses of the new structure as:

The strengths of the new administrative model that were identified included a better awareness of the other programs within the new clusters as well as the issues affecting other programs. The changes have forced staff into a different way of doing business. Staff have worked together as

a team throughout the changes. Another advantage is that there are fewer layers of administration.

Weaknesses of the new model include problems with communication and concerns regarding the delegation of administrative duties (p. 4).

Transitional Monitoring Team Report 2. In response to a recommendation from Report 1, a second TMT was asked to continue to monitor the change in November, 1996, and a report was prepared for the Leadership Team. The purpose of this second TMT was to monitor the implementation of recommendations of the previous TMT and to gather and communicate to the staff important and relevant issues that continued to impact the way business was done. Again, this team used a CQI approach. Seven recommendations were made in this second report. Two were workload-related, two were in the nature of requests for appreciation and recognition of the efforts of the staff of the Division during the change, and two were communication-related. The last recommendation was a request for a response to a set of recommendations. The executive summary described the recommendations as follows:

The feedback collected from staff confirmed that: the quality of education is being maintained, there is general support for a TMT, there is general support for the reorganization of the school structure, workload continues to be a concern, and there is a lack of recognition and representation of specific groups at all levels of the institute (p. 1).

1998 Review of the 1995 Restructuring of the Division. A review of the restructuring of the Division was commissioned by the Division leadership team in 1998, in response to concerns in both Transitional Monitoring Reports 1 and 2 regarding workload. Human Resource Services conducted the review and made several recommendations, centering around workload issues as a direct

result of restructuring. Findings of the review are summarized as:

Since the 1995 administrative restructuring in the Division, the staff have found that they have increased opportunities for decision-making, communication, sharing of resources and expertise, and an enhanced sense of camaraderie and team work. The leadership team is supportive, productive, and makes decisions that benefit the Division as a whole rather than for individual clusters or programs. Students are being served at least as well now as they were in the past, and, in some cases, service and instructional quality is enhanced (p. 2).

Data Analyses

Data analyses for interviews and documents follows. The description of how the data were coded after interviews took place is described in Table 3.1.

Data were coded so that they could be sorted by individual response, as well as by stakeholder group.

Table 3.1

<u>Stakeholder Responses</u>

| Ques. No.* | Stake- holder | Response | Effect on Sustainability | Researcher Observation |
|---------------|------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------------|
| ī | 1-10 | hierarchy | N/A | clear |
| 2 | 1-10 | manpower takes majority of budget | Н | environment |
| 3 | 1-10 | dean and associate dean | Н | leadership |

^{*} Question 1: What was the organizational structure before the change began?

Components of Table 3.1 represent the key variables in this study. The questions are listed in Appendix A.

The stakeholder column has two components: stakeholder group (1 to 4) and stakeholder individual (by interview number 1 - 17). Component one

Question 2: How was organizational structure identified to be changed?

Question 3: Which key people influenced the change?

represents the four stakeholder groups: Group 1 is the executive (Academic Vice-President, Dean, Associate Dean, Team Leaders). Group 2 is the instructional staff (faculty). Group 3 is the administrative support staff (secretary and technical support). Group 4 is the non-Divisional staff (Human Resources, Organizational Development, and Continuing Education). In Table 3.1, the notation 1-10 means the executive (stakeholder group one), 10th interview (individual's response).

The 1-10 coding allowed the data to be sorted by group (1) or by individual (10).

The response column reflects a summary of the response to the question by each interviewee. Transcripts were scanned for each question. If possible, one entry per question was given. If it appeared that one summary would not be adequate, then more than one summary was entered. The reason for making more than one entry would occur if a different theme (identified in the Researcher Observation column) could be analyzed by sorting the columns separately.

The fourth column, Effect on Sustainability, was originally coded as H (high -- clearly supported the change), M (moderate -- somewhat supported the change, L (low -- clearly did not support the change), and N/A (not applicable). When I reviewed the data in depth, I realized that this variable was open to interpretation which could be too subjective, and thus indefensible. This code was determined sometimes by voice inflection, or the context in which the response was given. Overall, the data became meaningless and is excluded from further use in the study.

The fifth column, Research Observation, became the notation for factors or processes or other themes that emerged from the specific interview statement.

This table, when completed, could be sorted either by question, by individual, by stakeholder group, or by theme, which was useful in both the analysis of data by responses to the question, and by responses within the stakeholder group.

Data an alysis for the documentation was a review of the documents.

Common themes were identified that matched the variable of the conceptual model. For example, the Transition Monitoring Team reports documented communication efforts and feedback from staff, reflecting behavioural processes of communication and conflict resolution activities. The 1998 Review of the 1995 Restructuring report documented the efforts of the leadership team in addressing issues, and in offering the institution the opportunity to address staff issues. In the next section, the variables from the conceptual model are described in detail.

The Conceptual Framework

For this study, the five key variables were: Environment, Input, Factors and Processes, Output, and Impact (see Figure 2, Chapter 2). Within each of these variables, the elements that influence postsecondary change are listed.

Environment

The first key variable was the environment. It provided the dynamic that precipitated the change. The provincial government, at the time of the financial reductions, had promised the public that provincial budgets would be slashed, with a focus on eliminating a huge budget deficit in the Provincial budget. In addition to reductions in funding for the education sector, the economic conditions of the day dictated significant funding reductions in ancillary publicly-

funding cuts, other public sectors, such as the health sector was also being drastically affected by government funding cuts. In the Division of the institution being studied, this meant that even if teachers in health programs, for example, wanted to quit teaching, they would have few options for other work in a related professional work environment.

The funding cuts in the employment sector affected hiring practices for graduates; therefore, there were fewer applicants to the programs, because it was presumed that students were unlikely to get jobs upon graduation. The quotas (students allowed to enroll) for some of these programs were also lowered, with decreased funding to these programs because of the lower quotas. (Some Canadian institutions closed some programs).

Another factor affecting postsecondary institutions was increased competition. This was brought about by accountability factors introduced by the government. Institutions had to prove their worth by attracting at least three applicants for each quota position available. Otherwise the government determined that the program was not considered viable or wanted by the public. Since all institutions needed to attract these numbers of applicants, some institutions lowered entrance requirements, attracting more applicants, and therefore giving students more options for postsecondary institutions for their education. All of these examples of the environmental dynamic had an impact on the Division being studied.

Input

The second key variable in this study was input. The input, or resources, considered in this research were people, funds, and time. People were the management and staff of the Division being studied. The management and staff had an existing hierarchical management style that experienced a change to a team leadership style. Funds were an important input because the change was predicated on the driving force of reduced financial means to support the Division in its existing state. Time was a consideration because the change had to be effected by fiscal year end in order to meet the reduced funding target for that budget year. These resources are not discussed in depth, nor studied in detail because they were a given at the time of the change. This study concentrates on how the change was sustained rather than what forces precipitated the change, or what resources were in place at the time of the change.

Factors and Behavioural Processes

The third key variable was comprised of two elements: key factors and behavioural processes. There were four key factors influencing change that were chosen to research: leadership, change agents, perceived validity of the change, and cultural support of the institution. The first key factor, leadership, was provided by an Executive structure, which included the Dean and Associate Dean, who reported to the President and Academic Vice-President, and Team Leaders. A consideration in the investigation of leadership was the position power of senior officials or leaders who asserted influence to make change happen, and subordinates to these senior officials who accepted this influence. Specifically,

the Dean and Associate Dean influenced the change by deciding that a

Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) approach would be used in

recommending a solution. Further, these leaders chose the CQI team participants.

They retained the power to accept or reject the recommended solution.

Inevitably, the leaders had the responsibility to ensure the solution was operationalized through resource allocation and individual rewards for cooperative behaviour.

A second key factor influencing change was change agents. In this study, change agents are interventions, such as a Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) team who recommended changes to the Divisional leaders described above. Another such intervention was the Transition Monitoring Team (TMT) who kept the line of communication open. These teams are described more fully in Chapter 4. In this study facilitators, who were supported by the Organizational Development and Human Resource Departments, facilitated the discussions that led to the major recommendation for a change in the Divisional organizational structure. A subcomponent of the change agent factor was the position power of the facilitators, who were perceived by the Dean as having significant importance in recommending change.

A third key factor in this study was the perceived validity of the change. Perceived validity refers to the belief by participants of the change effort that the solution was a valid response to the need for change. In this study, it was necessary to establish whether participants understood first if there was a valid need for change and, second, that the change that took place addressed this need.

The fourth key factor in this study was cultural support for the change.

The culture refers to the larger organization and its support or lack of support for the changes that occurred. The cultural context in this study referred to other

Divisions and the President and the Academic Vice-President and their acceptance or support of the change initiative. Other areas of the culture include the Registrar's office, Human Resources, Mail Room, and other administrative offices that would have to change their processes to deal with one structurally different Division.

The second element, behaviour processes that prevail during a change process, may have an influence on its sustainability. Behavioural data gathered for this study centers on relations among groups and individuals; cooperation between team members and between teams; obvious conflicts; coordination of budgets; communication between clusters, team leaders, and management; controlling and rewarding behaviour; problem solving, goal setting, and meeting the goals. Analysis of communication and behaviour provide an insight into determining if these processes influenced sustained change.

Output

The fourth key variable was output. Outputs are the products, services and ideas that are the outcomes of organizational action. The output or goal of this set of organizational actions was sustained change. Therefore the key factors and behaviour processes that contributed to this output have been captured and analyzed. In this conceptual framework, the output has been achieved. The analysis deals with how it was achieved.

<u>Impact</u>

The fifth key variable was impact. Even though this is not an evaluation study, the overall impact of the change was researched in order to determine results. Fullan (1982) says that there should be some discussion on the question of outcomes of change efforts, since "innovations are supposed to accomplish something worthwhile" (p.77). He suggests evaluators include in their data gathering the impact that is observed and described in terms of student benefits, instructor benefits, and organization benefits. These impacts would be seen at best as improved student learning, professional development for instructors, and increased interaction or teaming in the organization (p. 77-78). Goal statements, when being formulated, should have these three considerations in mind, or at least include statements that reflect no negative impact on these three considerations.

Mohr (1992) defines impact analysis as "determining the extent to which one set of directed human activities affected the state of some objects or phenomena, and, at least sometimes, determining why the effects were as small or large as they turned out to be" (p. 1). These impacts on the institution can be assessed to determine if they are positive (the extent to which the outcome matched the intended goals) or negative (the extent to which the outcome is in direct opposition to the intended goals) or whether there was some unintended impact on the organization. In other words, the research should examine not only if the solution addressed the crisis satisfactorily or unsatisfactorily, but it should examine if several other results occurred that were unintended. Fullan (1982) would have the researcher look for the intended and unintended impact on

students, instructors, and the organization. In this study, it was possible to gather data from the participants on their views about the elements of student learning, instructor professional development, and increased interaction or teaming in the organization.

The next section outlines how the data gathered met the requirement of trustworthiness.

Trustworthiness

Guba and Lincoln (1988) identified areas of concern in ensuring credibility and reliability of interview data. These are: host verification or member checks, triangulation, and corroboration (pp. 185-186). The following reflects an explanation of each concern as well as how this research addressed these concerns.

Host Verification

Host verification or member checks refers to checking the perceptions of interviewees to see if they match the researcher's interpretations of responses. The first perception to check was whether the participants agreed that a change had taken place. The question asked during data gathering was "What was the organizational structure before the change began?" This question elicited responses indicating that all interviewees agreed there was a change, saying what the old structure was (i.e., 21 program head and assistant program heads); and what the new structure became (i.e., 4 team leaders). In addition, the Dean of the Division was asked to review the thesis draft at an early stage, to ensure the descriptions of the change, the descriptions of the stakeholders, and any other

detail was correct.

Another method of host verification was the opportunity given each interviewee to edit his/her own transcription. Very minor changes in transcription occurred as a result of respondents reviewing their statements. Most changes were grammatical.

Triangulation and Corroboration

The second trustworthiness issue, regarding triangulation and corroboration, has two aspects. One aspect is to check propositions with other members. The second is to use more than one methodological tool to arrive at an understanding. In this study, triangulation and corroboration were addressed by checking with more than one set of members or stakeholders. The stakeholder component was comprised of management, instructors, administrative support and technician staff, and non-Divisional staff. Each of these sets of stakeholders was expected to hold differing views of the same data. It is common for different levels within an organization to have a different view of the same information because they are affected differently.

In this study, for example, the management group was affected by workload more than instructors. The original management group (Divisional Council) spread administration out over 21 people, meaning that administrative processes were in place and may have been handled easily by people who had been in the job for several years. The learning curve required of the 4 new Team Leaders to take on all the program administration meant that work would automatically slow down, or be inadvertently left out due to a misunderstanding

of its importance. Although the new Team Leaders were encouraged to drop work where appropriate, this was often not possible when others were relying on the Division for time-sensitive information. Examples were: curriculum changes to the Registrar, student grade administration to students and the Registrar, semester startup, and final examinations. Instructors had the same workload as they had previously. However, there were some factors on which both management and instructors should be able to agree, such as what the change was, why it started, what contributed to its sustainability, and whether the change was valid.

A second method to assure corroboration was contained in documentation: the Review of the 1995 Restructuring of the School of Health Sciences, described in Chapter 4. The review was undertaken independent from this study, commissioned by the institution, to review issues resulting from the restructuring. The findings of this independent study were based on the same understanding of the change that took place in the Division as has been documented in this research.

Ethical Considerations

Each participant was given the right to veto, change, or delete his or her own material, which contributed to the trustworthiness of the result through clarification of meaning or intention. Participants were also given the right to withdraw at any time in the study (see Appendix C). Anonymity and confidentiality was assured by using pseudonyms for individuals, the programs, and the institution. Stakeholder groups were identified by type, i.e., executive,

instructors, administrative support, or non-Divisional staff, but not by name.

There were enough participants in these categories to ensure anonymity. This research was approved by an Ethics Committee of the Department of Educational Policy Studies of the University of Alberta and by the institution of analyses.

Limitations

The following describes the limitations of the study which could not be addressed given the goal of the research, which was to determine the key factors and processes that sustained change.

- 1. Other Divisions within the postsecondary institution were not interviewed to find out their views on the change that took place. It was not determined why other Divisions did not respond in the same way as the Division studied.
- Supporting administrative departments were not interviewed for their views
 on the change that took place. It was not determined if the change caused
 extra work for these Departments, or less work due to fewer people in
 leadership roles to keep informed.
- 3. Due to a requirement by the Education Administration Faculty, and a request from the Institution studied, the identity of the Institution studied will remain anonymous. This limitation affected providing some details of the constraints in the environment in which the Institution operated.

Delimitations

The following boundaries were applied to the case:

1. The case study was bounded by the first sign of a need for change; that is, the government reduction in funding, which allowed Divisions to discover how

- they would address the reduction within each program, and, fiscal year end 1998 (approximately three years).
- 2. Participants in the case study were required to be present for the entire time boundary (three years).
- 3. Eighteen participants were chosen from executive, management, instructional staff, administrative support staff and external departments. All participants were from the institution being researched.
- 4. Students are not included as participants. Students may have been affected by the change, but it would be necessary to find students who attended during the transition.
- 5. Data gathering occurred over a four-month time frame: June to September, 1998.

Assumptions

The following assumptions were made at the commencement of this study:

- 1. A change had occurred. This was evidenced by a different organizational structure.
- 2. The staff of the Division believed the new organizational structure was a unique model.
- The change had been sustained. This was evidenced by the fact that no incremental change had occurred and no backsliding to the previous organizational model had occurred.
- 4. Stakeholder groups (as defined in Chapter 3) would have differences of opinion, by group, because communication of information usually stays

- within each stakeholder group. The expectation of the various stakeholder groupings, therefore, was that participants would hold the same or similar opinions within each group, but that the collective group opinions would differ from stakeholder group to stakeholder group.
- 5. Change in postsecondary organizational administration would parallel change in industry organizations. Key factors and processes were well documented in industry organizations, which led to the choice of key factors and processes for this study.

Summary

In this chapter the methods used to address the research questions were presented. Details on how the research questions were constructed and the methods used to address them were provided. The research questions were justified on the basis of using a conceptual model developed from an approach recommended by Harrison (1994) to determine key factors and processes, and by Fullan (1982) to determine impact. The methods used to operationalize the systems model described in Chapter 2 were presented. Finally, the chapter closed with a discussion of how the researcher addressed validity and reliability, as well as how participants were protected through anonymity.

CHAPTER 4

PROFILE OF THE INSTITUTION, DIVISION, PARTICIPANTS, STAKEHOLDERS, AND CROSS-FUNCTIONAL TEAMS

The purpose of this chapter is to describe the postsecondary institution in which the study took place, the Division studied, the participants or stakeholders interviewed, and the preparation for change through the use of cross-functional teams in two participative processes: Continuous Quality Improvement Team (CQI), and two transition monitoring teams (TMT).

The Postsecondary Institution

The postsecondary institution in which this research was conducted is a large Institute of Technology in Western Canada. The institution has a Board of Governors, a President and four Vice-Presidents. The Vice-President units are Student Services and Community Relations, Administration, Academic Services, and Human Resources and Extension Services. This research took place in a Division under the Academic Vice-President (AVP). There are nine Divisions under this Vice-President, offering 85 different two-year diploma and one-year certificate programs, 35 apprenticeship programs and 900 continuing education courses. The institution also offers Applied Degree programs. Student enrolment approximates 7,500 full-time and 33,000 continuing education registrations. Apprenticeship registrations comprise another 6,000.

A Division in this institution represents several Programs of Study, chaired by a Dean, who manages all of the operations of the Division; several Program Heads, who manage all of the operations for their own Programs of

Study; instructors, who help to design and then deliver curriculum (based on industry standards and industry advisory committees' advice); technicians, who provide technical support; and, administrative support, who provide clerical and administration backup. Two important community connections are supports to staff: advisory committees, and accrediting bodies. Advisory committees provide the link between the institution and business and industry, advising on the number of graduates required by the industry the committee represents; trends in skill and knowledge requirements; and the extent to which the institution's graduates are meeting the needs of industry. Accrediting bodies are those groups who grant accrediting status to a particular Program of Study. These bodies provide rigor and a set of standards to a Program of Study.

Institutional Change Hardiness

This study concerns changes in 1994-1997, where at the Division level institute-wide changes took place in order to meet funding reductions. Prior to 1994, all Divisions within the institution generally worked separately and in isolation. This study discusses the sustained change within one of the Divisions. The change undertaken is described in detail in this Chapter.

At the institute level, organizational structure has changed little in its 35 years of operation. According to one senior administrator, who had been at the institution over 25 years, the first significant institution-wide change was organizational, and it resulted in the reduction of administrators (15 Chairpersons were reorganized into 10 Associate Deans in 1987). This change reflected only a name change for first line administrators, from Chairpersons to Associate Deans,

and also reflected a decrease in Associate Deans from 15 to 10. This change was accomplished in large part due to retirements rather than any outside influence, such as funding cuts. Operations were not challenged in any way. Therefore, this change can be seen as minor in nature.

In 1996, a second set of institution-wide changes occurred, when programs were regrouped from a Division model to a School model. This reflected an organizational change (from 4 Divisions to 7 Schools) and a name change (from "Division" to "School"). Hereafter, in this study, the term "Division" is still used although in reality the unit studied is now a School. The institution as a whole had not met its funding target. In order to meet the 21% funding reduction overall, all Associate Dean positions were discontinued. However, operations were not at risk. Therefore this change is also considered minor in nature. This 1996 change, although it occurred in the midst of the study time frame, is not included for analysis because it did not affect the organizational structure change.

Two organizational changes in thirty years, one precipitated due to retirements (1987), and another precipitated due to reduction in funding (1996), but only affecting a handful of people, leads to a conclusion that the institution is not change-hardy. Very little change either in organizational structure or reporting (the same Board, President, Vice-President, and Dean structure) had been experienced. Specifically, no education programs were cut as a result of the changes; workload shifted at the Dean level only; and no workload issues were manifested deeper in the organization -- except in the Division under investigation. The change investigated in this research was the first major change

since 1987, and was structural. Only this single Division, out of 7 Divisions in this institution changed its structure. No other Division underwent structural change.

The lack of change in the institution, described in this section, is reflective of the typical postsecondary institution, described by Emberly (1996) and by Girard and Uhl (1992), referred in Chapter 1. The fact that the institution was not change hardy makes the accomplishment of this Division (sustained change) even more exceptional.

The Division

At the time of this study, the Division provided diploma-level (one- or two-year) education programs, preparing 200 - 250 students for employment. It had ten Programs of Study, each varying in length from one to two years.

Students graduated with a credential which enabled them to earn on average \$24,000 to \$36,000 annually. The following section describes the organizational structure before and after the change.

Organizational Structure

Before the change, 13 individual Programs of Study each had a Program Head and one or more Assistant Program Heads to provide administrative activities, such as hiring instructors, liaising with advisory committees, ensuring accreditation criteria were met, counseling students, and attending to various paperwork duties. All Program Head and Assistant Program Head staff were recruited from the instructor ranks and, as such, all had teaching duties as part of their workload. Further, a matrix-reporting scheme existed in the Division for

administrative support. Matrix reporting meant that a human resources consultant, for instance, reported to the Operating Division Dean for human resource activities of the Division, but also reported to the Human Resources Vice-President for overall human resource planning in the institution. In this Division, the matrix reporting scheme included a human resources consultant, a continuing education manager, and an organization development officer (hereafter referred to as non-Divisional staff).

After the change, 13 Programs of Study in this Division were combined into four "clusters." Each cluster had a Team Leader to provide administrative activities. Where appropriate, each Team Leader delegated administration activities to instructors or administrative support staff. Table 4.1 shows the organizational hierarchy before and after the change.

Table 4.1

Organizational Hierarchy Before and After the Change

| Division Staff Before the Change | Division Staff After the Change |
|----------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| Executive: | Executive: |
| 1 President | 1 President |
| l Academic Vice-President | 1 Academic Vice-President |
| I Dean | 1 Dean |
| l Associate Dean | l Associate Dean |
| 21 Program Heads and | 4 Team Leaders administered 13 |
| Assistant Program Heads | Programs of Study, now called |
| administered 13 Programs | "clusters" |
| of Study | |

In the new organizational model administrative activities in this Division were either discontinued or distributed among the four team leaders, with some

duties being delegated to instructors and administrative support staff. Workload issues were subjected to ongoing resolution activities by management and staff.

No other Division in the organization opted for the same type of change.

Participants and Stakeholder Groups

This section describes participants for the study who were invited to volunteer for interviews. These participants are further described in their identity as a stakeholder group.

Participants

Participants for this study, described below, are executive and staff who were part of the original organizational structure (before 1994), and who at the time of this study (1998) comprised the current organizational structure.

There were 18 participants who responded to the request for volunteers. Nine were male, nine were female. One male/female team requested a joint interview, for a total of 17 interviews. The average years of service with the institution at the time of the study was 15 years.

Stakeholder Groups

Stakeholder groups, in this study, were defined as groups of individuals who belonged to the same organizational strata, or approximate grade level, and who therefore shared the same understanding of the organization from their common viewpoint. These stakeholder groups had an interest in the outcome of the organizational change, and they were treated for the subunit analysis as a bounded group, i.e., each stakeholder group was considered as one element of data. The change that took place in the organizational structure affected the

distribution of individuals within the stakeholder group, the work done by each stakeholder group, their status, and the possibility for promotion. Stakeholder groups were identified in the belief that any differences in perception of key factors and processes influencing change could be captured if the data were collected by each group.

The following three stakeholder groups worked in the same Division:

- (1) executive staff (Vice-President Academic, Dean, Team Leaders from each cluster);
- (2) instructional staff (representative of each of the four clusters);
- (3) administrative support staff and technicians (representative of each of the four clusters).

The forth stakeholder group is included in the study but is comprised of staff who worked in the Division in a facilitative capacity (non-Divisional staff). The departments represented by these non-Divisional staff were Human Resources, Organizational Development, and Continuing Education. The interviews of non-Divisional departments were limited to these three departments because the role their staff played during the change was to guide or facilitate the change and to deal with any outcomes of a human resource nature. They also had an overview of the larger organization as they worked with other Divisions. They worked with the CQI team, which originally made the recommendation for a change in hierarchy, and subsequently worked with the Transition Monitoring Team in a facilitative role when various resource issues were questioned. Their involvement with the Division was in an advisory capacity.

Characteristics of Stakeholder Groups

The following characteristics describe the four stakeholder groups: executive members, instructors, administrative support and technical staff, and non-Divisional staff.

Executive Members. Six people, recruited from the Divisional senior executive and Team Leader group, representing the total population of Executive, were interviewed; three males and three females. (The current President was ineligible for the study, since he did not fit the criteria of being in the organization when the change took place.) Their years of service in the institution averaged 21, with a low of 12 and a high of 34 years' service. All began their teaching careers at this same institution.

Instructional Staff. Five instructional staff volunteered for interviews, out of 34 eligible staff (who met the criteria of being in the organization when the change took place); three males and two females. In one of these interviews a male/female team asked to be interviewed together. This meant four interviews occurred involving five staff. Some had been members of the Transition Monitoring Team (TMT), described later in this chapter, which was established on a volunteer basis to continually monitor the feelings of staff as the changes took place. Their years of service averaged 8.

Administrative and Technical Support Staff. Four administrative support and technician staff, out of 10 who met the criteria, volunteered for interviews. Four females made up this group. Their years of service averaged 15.75.

Non-Divisional Staff. The three non-Divisional staff, representing the total eligible population, who were interviewed came from human resources and continuing education. They included two males and one female. Their years of service averaged 15.

Preparation for Change

The Division prepared for change through the use of cross-functional teams in a participative process. Cross-functional means that members from all stakeholder groups, described earlier, were part of the participative process used in making recommendations for change and for monitoring that change. Two teams were used in this case: a participative process for problem solving termed Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) and also referred to as Total Quality Management (TQM); and, a communication process during change transition, termed Transition Monitoring Team (TMT). Two different TMT teams were mandated during the first three years. The operationalizing of these two teams is described in the next sections. Table 4.2 depicts the timeline, from the news of a funding reduction, to the organization at the time of this study. Following the table, the CQI team and the TMT team is explained.

Table 4.2

<u>Timeline From Funding Reduction to Current Organization</u>

| Timeline | Meetings and Decisions |
|--------------|---|
| 1994-January | Provincial government announces 21% reduction in funding, to be accomplished over three years, starting July 1. |

(table continues)

| Table 4.2 (continued) | | |
|-----------------------|---|--|
| 1994-July 1 | Staff takes a 5% decrease in salary. | |
| 1994-July 1 | Operations budget is cut by 6%. The CQI process in the Division is authorized by the Dean. | |
| 1994-August | The Dean and Associate Dean draft the charter (expected outcomes for the CQI team), and select CQI team members. | |
| 1994-September | The CQI team begins work, with their mandate to finish in February. | |
| 1994-November | The Dean tells the CQI team to have recommendations to the Dean by December. | |
| 1994-December 18 | The CQI team gives the draft proposal to the Dean with two tenets: Maintain the integrity of the classroom Reduce numbers of administrators, i.e., anybody not in the classroom. | |
| 1994-December | The CQI team operationalizes the recommendation to reduce administration as follows: reduce 21 program heads and assistant program heads to 4 positions to be called Team Leaders. Cluster 13 programs of study by similar content areas into 4 clusters, each cluster having one leader. | |
| 1994-December | The Dean gives the CQI recommendations to the program heads and assistant program heads, with five working days given for individuals or groups to refute the recommendations. No issues are raised. | |
| 1995-January | Four new Team Leader position descriptions are posted and interviews commence. Only those from the program head and assistant program head group can apply. | |
| 1995-February | Four Team Leaders are selected and announced. | |
| 1995-July 1 | The new Team Leaders are now in place, responsible for a Division budget reduced by 7%. | |
| | (table continues) | |

Table 4.2 (continued)

| Table 4.2 (Continued) | |
|-----------------------|---|
| 1995-September | First Transition Monitoring Team forms to assess impact of changes to internal and external customers. |
| 1996-April | First Transition Monitoring Team presents 9 proposals to the Dean, summarized in this study. |
| 1996-June | The President announces a new structure of Schools rather than Divisions, making Associate Dean positions redundant. This reduction in management throughout the institution achieves the final 3% funding reduction. |
| 1996-November | Second Transition Monitoring Team forms in response to need to keep communication open. |
| 1997-May | Second Transition Monitoring Team presents 7 proposals to the Dean, summarized in this study. |

Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI)

In 1993, fully one year prior to the funding reductions, the President called all staff together and explained that the institution would be developing a process called Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI), a process that uses input and data from all staff to make recommendations regarding change. There was no specific change known, communicated, or planned at the time. Likely the training was in response to the societal and corporate direction of using CQI for decision-making in business, industry, and postsecondary institutions.

The CQI process uses very specific techniques including developing a charter or mandate outlining the objective, documenting the process followed to reach recommendations, and using an external team to make recommendations. It was a very radical change to the traditional top-down decision-making approach at this institution. The senior executive were trained or acquainted with the CQI

process to at least the introductory level. Some institutional educators were trained more in depth so that they could act as facilitators to other Divisions using the CQI process. There was a significant investment of time, energy, and resources throughout 1993 and nothing could have better prepared the Institute to find innovative ways to deal with the budget reduction process to come. The following section describes the selection of the CQI team in the Division, the CQI mandate, and the CQI recommendations.

Selecting the Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) Team

The CQI process was already in place at the Institution by 1994. In keeping with this process, the Divisional Council in this study chose the CQI team as an approach to consider the issue of a 21% reduction in budget, and to make recommendations to the Council for a solution. The Divisional Council was comprised of the Dean, the Associate Dean, all thirteen Program Heads, the Dean's Administrative Assistant, and one Human Resources consultant. This group held regular meetings every two weeks to discuss the operations of the Division. The CQI team members were nominated by this Council for this Division's handling of the 21% reduction process; the Dean chose the Team Leader. The team met from August 1994 to February 1995. The team was comprised of administrators, instructors, technical and administrative support staff, and a Human Resource consultant, and was facilitated by Organizational Development staff from the institution.

The CQI Mandate

According to the Transition Monitoring Team Report No. 1, the CQI team

was commissioned to look at how the Division could meet the funding cutbacks, become more efficient, and yet maintain the number of students and the quality of education using all resources in the Division. A charter (series of objectives) for the CQI team was drafted in August, 1994. The charter had, as its: objective, to identify efficiencies and provide recommendations on how the Division could meet the budget reduction for the three budget years. The expected outcomes were:

- (1) to have maximum program accessibility to students, while maximum program or enhancing program quality where possible;
- (2) to maintain maximum employment of staff numbers; and
- (3) to use maximum instructional capacity in the Division.

CQI Recommendations

The CQI team accelerated their work and tabled their recommendations in December, 1994. The recommendations included:

- (1) maintain the integrity of the classroom. Ultimately, therefore, the cuts could only be in staff defined as *anybody not in the classroom*;
- (2) reduce the 21 individuals, then assigned to 10.6 administrative: positions, to four individuals, to be called Team Leaders;
- (3) make Team Leaders responsible for the administration of all the programs in the Division by clustering the programs with similar content areas.

These recommendations were presented to the Divisional Council in December, 1994. The Dean then presented the recommendations to faculty and staff. By January, 1995, Team Leader position descriptions were posted and by

February, 1995, the Team Leaders were selected and announced.

The Transition Monitoring Team (TMT)

In the fall of 1995, at the initiative of the new leadership team of this Division (the Dean and Associate Dean, Administrative Assistants, four Team Leaders and one Human Resources consultant), a Transition Monitoring Team (TMT) was formed to assess, evaluate, and report on the impact of the recent administrative changes within the Division. The TMT was representative of Divisional staff, including academic, technical support, administrative support and institutional staff provided by Human Resource Services (Transition Monitoring Team, 1996, Report p.1). The team was aided and guided by a Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) facilitator. The TMT used a CQI approach to gather information and formulate recommendations. The tools used to gather data were flow charts, cause and effect diagrams, histograms and force field analysis, brainstorming, and nominal group techniques. The feedback was gathered from staff, second-year students, and external customers. The methods used to gather feedback were questionnaires for staff and students, open forums for staff, meetings with Team Leaders, informal one-on-one discussions, written communication and voice mail. All of these communication strategies ensured that staff and students had excellent avenues to be heard, and that the comments went to management. Management responded formally by either making whatever changes were necessary or explaining why the changes could not be addressed.

Summary

One Division of a large Canadian Technical Institute met a requirement for funding reduction through an organization structure change. The Division reduced program management staff (Program Heads and Assistant Program Heads) from 21 to 4 (Team Leaders). This change shifted work from leadership to staff, and resulted in a change of status and promotion possibilities for the balance of the instructional staff. This change has been sustained for a period of three years, with no evidence of backsliding. A study of the change was conducted to determine the key factors and processes that contributed to the sustainability of this significant change. This study further sought to determine the impact of the change on the institution.

The characteristics of the 18 participants who provided 17 interviews (one interview had two participants) are described. Participants, 9 males and 9 females, had long service with the institute (average 15 years). They volunteered from all stakeholder groups (executive, instructional staff, technical and administrative support staff, and non-Division staff). All volunteers were willing to participate even though the interviews took place at semester end.

Two tools were used in participative decision-making: Continuous

Quality Improvement (CQI), and Transition Monitoring Teams (TMT). These
tools involved individuals from across the functions in the Division in
recommending solutions to the Divisional Council. The CQI cross-functional
team recommended a solution regarding how the Division could meet funding
reductions. The TMT teams (two separate consecutive teams were formed)

recommended solutions regarding communication and problem solving as a result of the change in the organization.

Chapter 5 discusses the findings in relation to the research questions.

CHAPTER 5

FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

The purpose of this chapter is to present the findings that contributed to sustained change in postsecondary education. The findings relate to the key variables that were identified in the conceptual framework (Figure 2): environment, inputs, factors and behaviour processes, outputs, and, impact. Findings are presented for each variable, followed, where applicable, by a summary of responses and a stakeholder analysis and a discussion. The chapter closes with a summary of the findings from the interviews and any pertinent information from the documentation reviewed.

Variable One: Environment

The environment provided the impetus for the change to occur. In the external environment, a growing dissatisfaction with postsecondary education on the part of the public resulted in a Provincial government response to introduce funding reductions. This forced postsecondary institutions to examine their operations and reduce costs in order to comply with the funding reductions. Expected backlash from advisory committees did not materialize because the people on the committees knew that the industry was in flux. In fact, the Division received kudos from advisory committee members that the postsecondary institution was responding in a realistic way to the changing environment.

Another anticipated backlash was from the instructors' union. However, this did not occur, perhaps because the union was kept informed about the changes and the need for change. In the past, staff had been given "permanent"

positions, meaning that their employment could not be terminated. They would be given a job somewhere in the organization. But the government introduced measures whereby formerly "permanent" staff could lose their jobs if the job became redundant. Andrews, Holdaway, and Mowat (1997) outlined the measure as follows.

"The Minister will request the boards of public institutions to revisit their collective agreements to meet the changing economic circumstances. Specifically, barriers to the termination of academic staff in response to fiscal restraint must be removed" (p. 85).

This measure temporarily reduced the power of unions to fight the change.

The internal environment at the postsecondary institution studied revealed that preparation for change had begun through a training program in Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI). The external and internal environmental forces provided a dynamic that laid the foundation for a change requirement and a change process to occur. These findings were based on documents from the Provincial government outlining the funding reductions, and on answers to interview questions regarding the understanding staff held of the reason for the change (described further under the validity of the change).

These findings agree with Harrison's (1994) approach to the importance of the environment, creating external conditions that require a response. However, Hanson's (1996) work on educational administration and change suggested that the organization might experience resistance due to vested interests. The fact that there was no work in the private sector, as suggested by Andrews, Holdaway, and Mowat (1997), could have had an influence on the desire of the instructional staff to support the change. Conversely, in agreement with Dennison and Gallagher

(1986), the staff could be following the new vogue in corporations of movement toward teams in the workplace.

Variable Two: Inputs

The inputs comprised the various resources available in the Division under study. These resources had three elements: people, funds, and time.

People represents the hierarchical organizational structure that, due to funding cuts, changed to a flat organization, as described in Chapter 4. Funds represents the decrease in funding that precipitated the organizational structure change. Time represents the short time frame that the Division had in which to determine and implement the changed structure (3 1/2 months). To explore what resources were assigned to the change, two questions were asked:

- (a) What was the organizational structure before the change began? and,
- (b) How was organizational structure changed?

These questions were asked to ensure an interviewee understood what the organizational structure had been and what it was at the time of the study to ascertain the difference. A typical reply to the question of the former organizational structure was:

This Division was aligned similarly with the rest of the organization's structure, generally with a Program Head per program, and, in most cases, one Assistant Program Head. In larger programs they sometimes had two Assistant Program Heads, and instructional staff below that.

In answer to the question: How was organizational structure identified as the aspect to be changed? all interviewees understood that the decision was made in response to the funding reduction. They also knew that the money had to come from salaries. It was generally agreed that the cross-functional team (CQI team)

examined every possibility, such as reducing staff in the classroom, cutting an entire program, or reducing enrollments. In the end, the decision was, as one interviewee said, "to maintain the integrity of the classroom and keep the pilot light burning (i.e., run as efficient a program as possible, but do not close any programs)." In order to accomplish this goal, reduced funding was achieved by taking staff out of administrative positions and putting them back in the classroom. One person commented "the change in structure was sold on eliminating redundancies," meaning that they believed 21 Program Heads and Assistant Program Heads must be doing similar kinds of work, so that by clustering the programs under four Team Leaders, the similar kinds of work for 13 programs rolled into 4 clusters, thereby eliminating redundancies. Another respondent summed it up this way:

There was a cross-functional team from the Division. When the budget cuts were coming in and we needed to find 21% resources, the cross-functional team, made up of members of instructional staff, admin support, technical staff from all of the different programs in the Division, met and they came up with the plan of how they could meet the 21%. This new structure was generally the result of their recommendations. Not quite the same, but very close.

All of the Divisions went about it in their own way. I think one of the focuses of the team was that they wanted to keep manpower bodies. They did not want to lose people at the bottom. They wanted to restructure to see if they could meet the required dollars in that method. With trying to maintain as many staff as possible.

In answer to the question: What was the organizational structure before the change began? all interviewees understood the hierarchy and the change to the organization structure that had been made. In answer to the question: How was organizational structure identified to be changed? all interviewees understood it

was a recommendation of the CQI team. The following summary of responses by individual and by stakeholder group shows it was generally understood that there was a need, and it was addressed appropriately.

Summary of Responses

The findings from these two questions confirmed that all participants, from each stakeholder group, knew precisely what had happened: that the Division had gone from a hierarchical structure of 21 Program Heads and Assistant Heads to a Team Leadership model of 4 Team Leaders. Answers showed that all stakeholders had the information and understood the change to the hierarchy. Secondly, all participants understood that the recommendation for restructuring the organization into clusters with 4 Team Leaders was as a result of a CQI process, i.e., a cross-functional team that met and analyzed how to best meet funding reductions.

Stakeholder Analysis

When the data were analyzed by stakeholder group, all four groups of stakeholders identified in this case had the information necessary to understand what the change was, how it was applied, and why it was done. Individuals can and do influence their stakeholder group. In this case it appears as though there were no differences in stakeholder group understanding and each representative group interviewed understood what was happening. This is a significant finding, based on Nadler, Shaw, Walton, and Associates (1995) who reviewed the treatment of stakeholders:

To monitor and assess change efforts, steering committees and design teams often use semiformal stakeholder-management techniques.

Stakeholder management consists of identifying key stakeholders (external and internal) and then assessing their knowledge of the effort, their level of influence over the outcome, and their level of commitment to the success of the effort. Level of commitment is described on a scale from "blocker" to "sponsor." Complications are stakeholders who appear to be supportive publicly but who block the effort behind the scenes; the truly supportive individual whose subordinates block the effort; and the supporter who lacks sufficient knowledge of the effort and therefore communicates inaccurate information to the organization (pp. 182-183).

None of the effects mentioned by these authors were evident in this study. There was no identified blocker or lack of trust by subordinates. All stakeholder groups indicated they had all the knowledge needed to understand the change and to support it. All interviewees were committed to the change, which, according to Beckhard and Harris (1987) is unusual. "It is sufficient to get the *minimum* commitment judged necessary from each individual or group; don't expect every member of the critical mass to be ready to 'make' change happen" (p. 94).

Responses from each stakeholder group will give readers a clear idea of how each group understood the proposed change.

Executive. Comments were:

I wasn't on the cross-functional team, but I guess what they were looking at was the amount of administration that it was costing the program to run. And I think that's how it came about. They didn't want to cut the quality. They didn't want to change the small group sizes, all the strengths that our programs have for industry. They didn't want to erode that. And so what they looked at was the administration and at the budgeting process, sharing of equipment, and I think they felt that the recommendation was where their best chance was for gaining the money — because it was a resource issue.

Instructors. Comments were:

The idea was sold to us that we would become more streamlined, supposedly more efficient than the old model. It eliminated a lot of redundancies.

I think, to my understanding, that there was a dollar value placed on the structure as it existed and it was identified that the dollar value within the structure was something that had to be addressed. And could the same responsibilities be carried out with a reduced structure. By virtue of that saving, then by flattening the structure it was identified that about 1/8 of the administrative cost could come out of the Dean's office and that's where most of the change occurred.

Administrative and Technical Support. Comments were:

The cross-functional budget team looked at all the different ways of making changes and cutting the budget. That was the way that worked its way out of the CQI process.

Non-Divisional Staff. Comments were:

The CQI cross-functional team was struck with about 20 members. They looked at a variety of ways to save the funds. It became apparent that having instructional folks do administrative work was quite expensive and that the expectation was that an administrative support person could equally well do many of the functions and cost about half.

Discussion

Overall, interviewees understood this change in the organization, and that the change was made because of a need to meet funding reductions. The change in hierarchy and leadership numbers meant that 17 people lost status as a "leader." In addition, with fewer positions to aspire to, instructors also had limited chances for promotion. Also, some instructors and administrative support staff were asked to assume administrative duties. Sometimes the duties were assigned, and sometimes volunteers asked for the opportunity to be involved in administrative duties. The extra duties were not given remuneration, but, where appropriate, an instructor could receive fewer teaching hours so that administrative duties could be carried out. No interviewee complained about this change in workload specifically, but workload generally was an issue brought forward by the TMT

and by a workload study done by Organization Development.

The fact that staff were so informed, at all stakeholder levels, was indicative of an excellent communication network. The change met with limited resistance. In fact, the answer to the closing question "would you go back to the old hierarchy" resulted in all interviewees responding "no." With fewer hierarchy, staff reported they had better access to the Dean, were better informed regarding the issues concerning their programs, and felt involved in participative decision-making when the solution sought needed to have more input.

This finding is supported by the documentation provided by the Review of the Restructuring commissioned by the department, and fulfilled by the institution's Organizational Development Services. For instance, while workload was one of the factors being investigated, the report did not recommend returning to the former hierarchy. Instead, it recommended one more administrative assistant to help the Team Leaders with their workload. Throughout the interviews it was apparent that staff felt they had contributed more to the overall organization by adopting the team leader model, and by accepting some of the resulting workload. But they did not want to go back to the original hierarchy; rather, they wanted recognition for the efforts they had committed to the organization. To support this finding, an interview comment, reported in the Review was "the school's unique response to the challenge of the cutbacks and its resulting innovative structure was never properly, formally and publicly recognized by Executive Committee members" (p. 24).

Variable Three: Factors and Behaviour Processes

In this study, the third variable had two elements: key factors and behaviour processes. The findings are reported separately, including responses and stakeholder analysis, ending in a discussion of the findings from interviews and documentation for each section.

Key Factors

The literature about change in organizations revealed four factors that are keys to sustained change: (1) leadership; (2) change agents; (3) validity; and, (4) culture. Three questions were asked to explore these:

- (a) Which key people influenced the change i.e., leadership and change agents;
- (b) Did management and staff believe the structural change was a valid response to the need for funding cuts; and,
- (c) Did the culture support the change.

Leadership and Change Agents

Initially, I anticipated that a person would be named as the influencer of sustained change, either as a leader or as a change agent. Thus, the question, Which key people influenced the change? sought to discover if leadership and/or change agents were present as a factor in the sustained change under investigation. The interview data did identify a person or persons in the leadership role (the Dean and Associate Dean), but for the change agent role, responses reflected the process of using participative decision-making in the form of the CQI and TMT. Therefore, the discussion of key factors as leadership and change agents are combined as a single topic.

Summary of Responses

A slight majority (8 responses out of 17) indicated participants thought the change had been influenced by the CQI team. Other participants (7) thought the change was influenced by the management team (the Dean and Associate Dean). The balance of the participants had different views.

Comments from those believing the change had been influenced by the CQI team were:

The change was basically implemented by the guiding team for the crossfunctional team. Within the cross-functional team there were a variety of folks that made suggestions that ultimately went forward as recommendations.

It is difficult to identify key people because it was done on a team approach and it was done on a voted level of identifying issues that could be addressed, be put on the board and be discussed, and to understand the process, all of the issues were looked at. It wasn't just the administrative structure. There were a lot of other issues being addressed during that time. The team was not there primarily to change the structure. The team was there to address the budget and the budget process and the necessity to lose the 21% and how that could be accomplished. One of these recommendations was the structural change in the administrative system.

Comments from those believing the change had been influenced by the

Dean and Associate Dean were:

I think the Dean was the driving force behind it. I think he chose the leader of the team as somebody who would agree with that possibility.

The Dean and Associate Dean were quite facilitative and were certainly available for consultation on this kind of thing and helped in the formation.

Stakeholder Analysis

Answers to the question are fairly evenly divided between leadership (the Dean) and change agent intervention (in the form of the CQI process). However, the stakeholder analysis of this question indicates a more interesting division; i.e.,

executive interviewees attributed the change to the CQI process, while staff attributed the change to the executive. Greiner and Schein (1988) posit that a change would be accepted and sustained if key subordinates accepted the Chief Executive Officer's (CEO) influence, and trusted that the CEO had a vision to which they could commit. The following comments are reflective.

Executive. Some comments were:

The only contact the Dean had with the CQI team, while they were meeting to design recommendations, was with the team leader.

The key people implementing the change were the members of the crossfunctional team, and then definitely all the team leaders.

There was good support for the presentation from the CQI team and the members of the CQI team itself.

There was some perception in the staff that it had already been decided and that there were some key people on the CQI team that were pushing for it [the restructuring].

Instructors. In support of Greiner and Schein's (1988) concept of the subordinates being "willing as a group to accept the CEO influence," one instructor said "staff accepted the credibility of management and existing program leaders." Another comment was "the concept was sold based on eliminating redundancies." Another interviewee noted that "the goal was to keep staff in the classroom. We didn't want to lose people at the bottom." It seems staff believed that everything possible was going to be done to preserve the educational program so that students would receive the benefits of a continuing excellent education. This pleased staff because they wanted to "continue to be associated with a quality education program." They also felt they had struck a solution that would not "lose people at the bottom." They saw that no jobs would be lost, but

redundancies, or duplication of administrative effort, would be cut (since there would be fewer people to carry out administrative duties). These comments also support Block's (1993) view that with a flattened hierarchy, "there are fewer supervisors and therefore fewer people watching," meaning more autonomy for the instructors.

Regarding change agent influence, the study by Hamlin, Reidy and Stewart (1997) recommended inside influencers such as interventions like the CQI process were needed to sustain change. Again, the stakeholder analysis showed that not as many staff (or therefore, participants in the CQI process) thought the change was influenced by the CQI process. In fact staff, who after all are the glue that holds the change together (through their support of the change), still thought that the CQI process was worthwhile, but the budget funds "had to come from somewhere, and naturally, it would have to come somehow from staff." In answering the question "who influenced the change," instructors clearly thought the influence came from the Dean and Associate Dean.

Administrative and Technical Support Staff. One comment was:

Program Heads and the Dean and Associate Dean made the final decision, with input from the Program Heads and staff.

Non-Divisional Staff. One comment was:

The Dean and Associate Dean were the biggest influencers. The Divisional Council, which was all the Program Heads, opened the door to allow the change to occur. I think they wanted to close the door pretty quick once it started happening, but the process they were working through, for example, through budgets, and trying to realize the economy that needed to be made, it was pretty obvious that it couldn't continue the way it was.

Discussion

Strong, consistent, supportive leadership by the Dean and Associate Dean paved the road to sustained change. Even when instructors, for instance, acknowledged the importance of the CQI process, they still said "the crossfunctional team that devised the new structure would be one of the main influencing factors, but the Dean and Associate Dean obviously had to like their recommendations in order to implement them." Furthermore, once the changes to the hierarchy were implemented, there was more autonomy at the instructor and administrative support levels. Some commented that previous to the change they "never knew what the problems were." Now, they felt involved in the problems and in the solution-building. There was a feeling of removing layers of supervision between management and staff. The Dean and Associate Dean became more visible in the communication efforts, and therefore more approachable. These two leaders showed sincere interest in what all the individuals thought and felt about the change. Tremendous efforts at communication, collaboration, and responsiveness became normal practice, which had not been the case prior to the change. Previously, leadership were expected to communicate down the line, but often, in the name of expediency, communication was lacking, or not effective.

These findings agree with Hersey and Blanchard (1993) Situational Leadership model, in that as the staff gained experience with the change, they required less intervention from the Dean and Associate Dean. Also, Lewin's (as cited in Hersey and Blanchard 1993) unfreezing, changing, and refreezing theory

applies in this study since all communication efforts were placed on this strategy by the Dean and Associate Dean.

The stakeholder analysis reveals a difference of opinion regarding who is responsible for the change. The executive stakeholder group believe the CQI, or cross-functional team is responsible for the solution. All other stakeholder groups believe it is the executive who are responsible for the solution. This support of Greiner and Schein's (1988) political resolutions allowed "active consensus" as described in their model (see Figure 1).

Block (1993) describes this difference of opinion in terms of dependency and empowerment. He put forth the notion that there is a gap in belief by supervisors and subordinates that there exists dependency and empowerment in their relationship. Supervisors believe they are empowering their staff so that "answers to the latest crisis lies within each of us and therefore we all buckle up for adventure" whereas staff believe they are dependent on leaders "who know what is best for others, including ourselves, and are therefore responsible for how much freedom we have [to make decisions]" (pp. 8-9).

One thing in this study was clear. Once the decision was made, it did require unwavering support of the leadership team. This is true because in fact, even if the staff felt empowered to make or participate in decisions, they relied on the leadership team to find and allocate resources.

There was no finding that indicated interviewees thought any one person was responsible as a change agent, or a process consultant, as defined by Havelock (1973), Baldridge (1975), Ottaway (1979), Buchanan and Badham

(1999) or Schein (1969). However, it was clear that processes, acting as agents of change, were instrumental in the sustained change outcome.

There were two powerful agents of change: the CQI process and the TMT communication vehicle. The CQI process received sponsorship by the leadership team, and the solution generated by that process was implemented as closely as possible, given the constraints of the larger institution. The TMT following the change was a direct attempt to manage the transition from the old system to the new system. This change tool was part of the training conceived by Bridges (1991) who chronicled the need for such a team to keep communication open and constant. This finding supports Shapiro and Levine (1999) in their concept of 'change levers' such as strategic planning and external reviews. It also supports Small (1995) who found from his survey that college staff viewed managerial structure change to be significant change. In the same survey, Small found a recurring theme of sustained change supported by a TQM approach. The literature that best fits this study was the study conducted by Hamlin, Reidy and Stewart (1997) where CQI was viewed as the contributing factor to sustained change in the British Civil Service.

The documentation, i.e., documentation from the CQI meetings, and the two TMT reports, chronicle what happened for the decision, the implementation, and the two years after the implementation. The two TMT reports were significant in that they outlined issues and recommendations raised by the staff, with memorandums from the guidance team (Dean and Team Leaders) outlining what action was taken to address these issues and recommendations. This process

confirmed support of the leadership and the influence of the change agents. The success of the change reflects the findings of Chaffee and Sherr (1992), who noted that the TQM approach to solving problems was most successful when a cross-functional team was used, developing a "shared sense of responsibility." In addition, attention to the transition state (moving from the existing state to the new state), was supported. This agrees with the findings of Kanter, Stein and Jick (1992), and, Bridges (1991) who said the solution to resistance during transition was increased communication.

Perceived Validity of the Change

The question, "Did management and staff believe the structural change was a valid response to the need for funding cuts?" sought to reveal if stakeholder groups thought the change was valid.

Summary of Responses

The majority of interviewees thought the change was in response to a valid requirement to reduce funding. A few participants did not believe in the validity of the need for change. A further two people had mixed feelings about the change, which likely meant they supported the majority, when pressed.

Those who supported the validity commented:

I think because we were a small Division we didn't have the resources of some of the larger Divisions and those larger Divisions might have had the means to address their cutback in other ways. There is a rumour that some Divisions did not meet the cutback but I think they just chose to do it in a different way.

I feel that the response was valid. I think that management certainly did. And I think probably the Program Heads, the program leaders of that day bought in as well. Because some of them were vulnerable as roles changed. They seemed to be supportive of it as well. And I think the staff

in general more or less accepted the credibility of management and their exiting program leaders and the CQI team in buying in to it as well.

I think that if they (management and staff) didn't see it as adding value, they wouldn't have done it.

Those who doubted the validity commented:

I'd say it was mixed. There were differences of opinion. Some people felt that the restructuring wasn't necessary and it was going to cause people to work harder, and why didn't they just go the bottom line like the other Divisions. In the first year there were a lot of unhappy people. Some were willing to give it a try. Some didn't think it was going to work. People who had been in the Assistant Program Head roles were bitter the first year as they felt that something had been taken from them. I guess people got used to the change by the second year since it wasn't as difficult. People got more settled into their new job responsibilities.

With any change there comes resistance from staff. I don't know if there was a lot of staff that were for it, but then, once you start working out bugs, and start working in the system itself, then you find that, yes, it's quite workable.

Stakeholder Analysis

The following comments, by stakeholder group, indicated the feelings of the staff regarding validity of the change.

Executive. The stakeholder analysis in this case indicated that executive knew the need was real. Budgets were being cut. In the external environment, other provinces' education institutions were beginning to cut similar programs entirely out of their education systems. This response by education institutions was due to the fact that funding in the industry was also being cut. The result of funding reductions was staff reductions. Therefore, there were no jobs for graduates of the programs. This dynamic environmental factor influenced the executive when they answered in the affirmative regarding validity of the change.

Instructors. Instructors generally did not think the change was a valid

response, but their answers were qualified with comments such as "second year marked a difference in attitude," or, "had a wait-and-see attitude. I was more concerned about enough money for students and what impact the funding cuts would have on patient care." Another instructor comment was "staff resisted at first, but as bugs are worked out, it's quite workable." These comments indicated that although instructors had some misgivings at first, they were prepared to accept the change.

Administrative and Technical Support and non-Divisional Staff. These two stakeholder groups also agreed with management and staff that the change was valid, especially if they served on the cross-functional team. Owens (1998) said change would be sustained if the change was complete, exhibited long-term planning, and had sustained effort (pp. 316-317). The comments from the instructors indicate that the sustained effort, combined with an implementation plan, helped them in the second year of the change to consider the change irreversible and therefore, according to Owens, it became "stable."

Discussion

Initially, instructional staff and administrative support staff were not convinced that the change was valid. This was because no other Division met the requirements in the same way. Staff in fact did not believe much was being done in other Divisions at all, and that theirs was the only Division responding to the cuts. What this did in the end was to give staff a feeling of camaraderie, that they had pulled together and made the "leadership model" as it came to be known, work. A strong sense of community was the result.

The stakeholder analysis revealed the executive group knew that the budget cuts were real and that, as was evidenced in other provinces, the entire program could be cut. What the executive opted to do was work hard to reduce their resource requirement from the institution and still deliver a program of which they could be proud. The staff may never have seriously thought the institution would consider cutting what was perceived to be a successful and highly regarded program. However, by the time of the interviews, the staff had also come to believe in the validity of the change, and gave it their full support. Also, it was evident during the interviews that the Programs of Study were widely considered to produce excellent graduates. Documentation supported this belief. Institution statistics published in the year of the study showed over 95% of all graduates from this Division were placed in positions. Over 70% of all Division graduates were in training-related employment. This statistic reflects the top placement for the institution, with the exception of computer-related technology graduates (who report 96.2% placement).

This finding supports Owens (1998) and Bridges (1991) in their findings regarding reduced resistance if staff agree the need for change is sincere.

Executive in this study knew the need was sincere, but they had to "sell the need," as Bridges says, so that staff believed it too. The sense of camaraderie that developed supports Chaffee and Jacobson (1997), based on their work on subcultures. It is apparent the subculture of oppositional culture that was created through the Division's belief that they were "lone rangers" who came up with a new structural model, thereby meeting funding reductions in a unique and

successful way (therefore, in "opposition" to the majority of the institution's management structure).

Supportive Culture

The question, "Did the culture support the change?" sought to determine if the rest of the institution supported the change, either through acceptance of the changed hierarchy, or by proactively helping the new organizational structure succeed. Evidence of departmental support would have included changing their own requirements so that the new organization could survive with a radically different organizational structure.

Summary of Responses

Thirteen interviewees did not think there was any support for the changed hierarchy. Four interviewees thought there was some support from the Vice-President Academic, small support from the service sectors, and lesser support from other academic departments. None of the staff thought there was any support from the President's office. None of the staff thought the executive committee of the institution supported the change. With regard to the service sector, such as the Registrar's office, "the service sectors were bewildered." "There was confusion about who had signing authority." "Outside people didn't know who to contact, and they didn't understand the term Team Leader." "No support from the institution." These comments came from all stakeholder groups.

With regard to other departments in the institution, there "was some skepticism at the same levels in other schools. They wanted more homework time to make sure it was going to work." "The rest of the institution was concentrating

on their own need to meet funding cuts, and therefore weren't interested in what we were doing."

Those who thought they had support tended to be in the administrative support category, and had the following comment: "no problem getting service, but I have always liaised with the Registrar."

Stakeholder Analysis

Respondents from every stakeholder group felt the same way, i.e., that there was little support from the institution. Interviewees did not think what they did was taken seriously by other departments, either academic or service groups. Instructors commented that they were "not supported by external organizations, such as advisory groups."

Discussion

Schneider, Brief and Guzzo (1996) concluded their research with the statement that "changes were more likely to stick when the organization is ready." In this case, the organization was not ready because it was not change-hardy (see Chapter 1), and the various Divisions were not supportive. Kirkman and Shapiro (1997) predicted resistance to change if the culture was not supportive. However, in this case, the resistance to change was not evident.

Pawar and Eastman (1997) identified several factors that link culture to transformational leadership as it relates to the ability of leaders to influence change. One factor is the requirement for a strong, visionary leader when the environmental influence (validity for change) is strong, but the desire to be traditionally stable (no cultural support for change) is strong. The staff clearly did

not believe there was cultural support for the change. Therefore, according to the Pawar and Eastman study, these staff supported the vision of their leader, formed a boundary around their Division, developed their collegiality, and worked cooperatively to succeed in this new team venture.

The concept that the culture of this organization did not support a change of this magnitude is the most significant finding of this study. Change literature reviewed for this study is clear that change will not be sustained if the culture does not support the unit instituting the change. However, most change literature refers to for-profit business. There was limited literature in the education field that dealt with change in organizational structures. Fullan (1982-1993), for example, tends to deal with changes in curriculum. Further, theorists from the business literature appear to have assumed that changes in organizational hierarchy are the same in every administrative organization, regardless of service or product.

The change under study was precipitated by a government decision to hold postsecondary institutions accountable, just as any major corporation is held accountable to its shareholders. However, it is clear that a postsecondary institution is not the same as a business. The fact that one Division could sustain change even though a key factor was missing may indicate that postsecondary Divisions are different than units/departments in a business organization.

Divisions of postsecondary institutions are autonomous entities that exist to meet the needs within the program or faculty that they serve. Agreement among the staff of the Division that the education they provide is solid, meets the needs of

the public, and provides excellent graduates is the factor that sustains change regardless of what the rest of the institution is doing.

Behaviour Processes

The literature regarding the role of behaviour processes in organizational change revealed several processes that contributed to sustainability. These are:

(1) relations among groups and individuals such as team leaders, teams, union, accrediting bodies and customers (students), staff, service areas, and program advisory committee members; (2) cooperation between team members and teams;

(3) conflicts between team members and teams; (4) communication from leaders, peers, and monitoring teams; (5) controlling and rewarding behaviour; and, (6) problem solving - was it participative or top-down.

Organizational effectiveness, says Harrison (1994), "is enhanced when work groups are cooperative and cohesive, communication is honest and multidirectional, group norms support productivity, decision making is participative, and supervision is both task oriented and supportive of individual effort and learning" (p. 63). The question, "What were the key processes that contributed to sustainability?" sought to discover if the behaviours outlined in the literature were present in the case under investigation. An analysis of responses and a stakeholder analysis are presented. The section closes with a discussion of the findings.

Relationships: Cooperation, Conflict, and Communication

This element combines the relationship issues of cooperation, conflict and communication. The question "How did behaviour contribute to the success of

the change?" incorporated probes for each of these relationship issues.

Summary of Responses

When probed about the behavioural process of relationships, such as among team leaders, teams, union, accrediting bodies and customers (students), staff, service areas, and program advisory committee members, there were no outstanding issues. Everything seemed quite pleasant during the transition, and continued through the period of sustainment — three years. Specifically, there was cooperation, little conflict, and open and positive communication. The major difference observed was the improvement in communication. All interviewees thought the communication was good, or even better, based on the Transition Monitoring Team and the emphasis placed on keeping the lines of communication open.

Stakeholder Analysis

As reported, there was no significant difference across stakeholder group beliefs and observations in the area of relationships, cooperation and conflict.

However, there was a significant difference in the executive stakeholder group with regard to communication. These quotations also give an insight as to how the clusters viewed each other.

Executive. Executive was more concerned about accrediting bodies.

They prepared meticulously for accrediting reviews, but were soon relieved.

"There were smooth relationships with accrediting bodies and advisory committees." With regard to staff complaints, the executive was expecting to hear some but there were communication processes in place to hear complaints.

"There were some concerns expressed by the staff, but they had the TMT to voice concerns and get answers." In general, "learning is taking place across clusters, and this enhances curriculum growth." Second-year students were surveyed but the consensus was: "No problems with students." The union was kept informed of changes as they occurred. There were no grievances. So, while the executive answered "no difference," to the question of relations among the various interest groups, what was meant by this was that they expected things to be worse, but it was "business as usual." Therefore, there was a positive response to this question.

The executive and at least one representative of each other stakeholder group thought the communication had improved. Since it was the executive who was accountable for communications, it was not surprising that they noticed the increased efforts at communication. One executive remarked:

"It wasn't just a CQI team and a CQI report. They went on to create a Transition Monitoring Team, which is fairly unusual. Usually after a CQI activity some changes are recommended and maybe even some large changes are undertaken, but not many times has there been a formal transition monitoring team to ensure the feedback is being heard from all employees. They followed in a pretty good form in making sure that the TMT was not just a management team. In fact they consciously avoided it being a management team. It was representative of the sectors in that school that were being impacted by this change."

Instructors. Instructors were involved in meetings and retreats to get to know each other and to understand the problems and constraints of the other clusters. This knowledge led to a greater understanding and a desire to help. "There was more cooperation between teams and clusters, sharing of equipment, and less feeling of isolation because there were several meetings held between groups." There were no complaints from students. "Students didn't know who

the team leaders were before the change anyway. This fact was analyzed from a student survey, and it led to a recommendation that team leaders be more visible."

Some pride was shown by instructors in one cluster who said: "Our program will be accredited for the first time, directly due to efforts of the team leader." Instructors did not believe the union had a problem with the changes since union staff were "invited to TMT meetings but never attended." One instructor summed up the feeling in the Division among instructors as "there are good relations because of the high dedication of the staff." As with the executive, while the instructors answered "no change," when asked about relations among groups, their comments indicated that the response was positive in the overall feeling of pride in what they had accomplished.

Some instructors thought "teamwork had skyrocketed." In general, comments such as "good sharing of ideas and equipment," "excellent cooperation in staff and between clusters" were indicative of the overall generality that cooperation was good, excellent, or "skyrocketing." All stakeholders experienced an attitude of cooperation. Examples were given regarding sharing of resources. In fact, some instructors thought the reason they were finding it easier to obtain resources was precisely because "they can be shared by more than one cluster."

Some instructors had been concerned about conflict with the advisory committees or accrediting bodies. They were pleasantly surprised when no conflict emerged. Of the responses that reflected some conflict, they were minimized by respondents, saying that "there were some historical conflicts."

Another comment was that there was some initial conflict with former program

heads that did not "get the leadership nod." However, the general feeling was that this type of conflict had since sorted itself out and that there was no current conflict on those grounds.

Administrative and Technical Support. Quotes from the administrative support and technician staff about cooperation reflect their response that there was no difference in cooperation from previous relationships. "There were no problems with the union. There were no problems with accreditation." One administrative support staff noticed that "there are no relationship problems because overall there is a better use of resources."

Non-Divisional Staff. "There were some problems with old Program Heads, but the Dean was consistent and firm." Some problems were evident with workload issues, as outlined in Chapter 4 on the Division. However, an observation by one interviewee was that "there was a problem with workload with existing staff, but there is no problem with new staff." Another interviewee said "the staff pulled together very quickly to support their team leaders. They supported the person if not the structure at first. The team leaders also became very close."

Discussion

Relations among groups and individuals, cooperation, and conflict responses were observed to be about the same after the change as before the change. The major difference in behaviour noticed was the improvement to cooperation. Responses indicated that cooperation had improved due to the fact that programs began to share equipment, space, and other resources. Formerly,

some programs did not: know what resources other programs had available to them. In the past, budgets were kept confidential to the Program Head and the Dean. Often program staff didn't know what the budget contained. In the new configuration, all of this information was made available, and significant effort was made to share reso-urces. The response that cooperation had "skyrocketed" came from such knowledge. Response to observed communication indicated that communication was open. All interviewees said they knew, or had access to, knowledge about what was happening for the entire three years under study. Monitoring teams, in their reports, indicated that the leadership team was responsive to recommendations. The monitoring teams said they had validity and that they felt their work was acknowledged and appreciated by both leadership and staff. These findings support Harrison (1994), in his work on the importance of communication and participation to create high levels of trust.

Controlling and Rewarding Behaviour

The next element or type of behavioural process that sustains change is controlling and rewarding behaviour.

Summary of Responses

Some interviewees thought both rewards for positive behaviour and controls for negative beliaviour existed in this Division. Overall, there was no clear feeling about rewards or controls from any individual interviewee.

Stakeholder Analysis

The comments from stakeholders reflected their feelings regarding the type of controls or rewards given.

Executive. Executive noticed initial problems with reporting issues or with the Dean and Associate Dean "working hard to meet their agenda."

Executive was also reticent about providing rewards in case they would be seen as "playing favorites."

Instructors. Instructors thought the behaviour of the Dean and Team

Leaders was controlling at first, but less so as time went on. Instructors also
thought there was little budget available to give rewards, but appreciated those
rewards that were possible, such as "rewarding though lunch twice a year at
school meetings." Some negative rewards were noticed, such as "negative
behaviour got rewarded: the more resistance [to the change], the better the
computers."

Administrative and Technical Support. Administrative and technical support staff thought there was not enough controlling behaviour from the Dean and Team Leader, and that "problems were ignored." They also thought there were rewards through "retreats, and attendance at seminars." The administrative support staff had also been successful at reclassification, for which they felt support from their colleagues.

Non-Divisional Staff. Non-Divisional staff felt the Dean and Team

Leader behaviour was "more coaching than controlling," or "not exactly

controlling -- more pressure to perform." Also, non-Divisional staff thought that

when it came to reward and recognition, the organization as a whole had a

problem in this area.

Discussion

Respondents generally agreed that neither controls nor rewards were evident in the department. Some thought there was negativity at the beginning, but there was none in evidence at the time of data gathering. This finding does not support Porter, Lawler and Hackman (1995), who found that rewards of money motivated sustained change. Since no extra money was available, the minor reward of annual lunches and positive feedback from the Dean and peers was the sole reward. Neither was there any indication of punishment nor controlling behaviour.

Problem-Solving -- Participative or Top-down

The last behavioural element in this study was problem-solving. This study sought to find out if the staff participated in solving problems of mutual concern to the Division on an ongoing basis, not only when the funding reduction issue surfaced (CQI team), but also when other problems arose over the three-year period.

Summary of Responses

This section addresses interviewees' beliefs and observations regarding problem solving. Was problem-solving participative or top-down? A significant majority of interviewees (11 of the 17 interviews) reported that decisions had become participative. Further, they indicated that participation in problem-solving had become a normal expectation of both the Team Leaders and the staff. Stakeholder Analysis

Executive. Executive said they involved staff in problem solving when a

by the establishment of a TMT." Another commented that "I don't necessarily know all the history behind an issue, so I'll go back to the program to find out how it came to be an issue, and then find out what the staff would like to do with the issue." Therefore, problem-solving had become participative.

Instructors. The instructors saw a difference between the old style and the new team leadership model. "In the old style the team leader handled everything and you didn't know there was a problem." Another said "problem solving is participatory generally, with some hierarchical imperatives."

Administrative and Technical Support. This stakeholder group viewed "problem solving top-down only when needed, or it can't be solved at the program head level." Another felt there was "no difference in problem solving, but there should be more accountability for staff whose teaching was downloaded, i.e., let them sign their own forms and make their own decisions." Overall, this group saw more sharing of decisions at staff meetings.

Non-Divisional Staff. This stakeholder group saw more participative decision-making, and more facilitated decisions. But one member thought there was "less participative decision-making due to pressures of time."

Discussion

Respondents generally agreed that the old, hierarchical structure leant itself to top-down decision-making. They also agreed that the new structure leant itself to participative decision-making, especially when decisions affected all staff. The success of participative decision-making supports the views of

Pomrenke (1982), who said "people can get a clearer idea of how their tasks relate to the goals of the organization, and are much more likely to accept those goals as their own" (p. 39).

Variable Four: Outputs

The output in this study was sustained change. Indeed, the change, i.e., an organizational structure change, had been sustained for three years (1994-1997). The documentation to support this finding was the organization chart, published by the institution in 1998.

This study explored the factors that led to sustained change rather than the nature of the change itself, i.e., the Team Leadership organization structure. One finding that was not expected, but which emerged in the study, was the sense of community that resulted from sharing the experience of the change process. This finding is covered in more detail in Organization Impact in the section on Variable Five.

Variable Five: Impact

In this study, the fifth variable to be researched was the impact the change had on the organization, and its contribution to sustainability. To explore the impact on the organization, three subsidiary research questions were asked:

- (a) What has been the impact of the change on students;
- (b) What has been the impact of the change on instructors; and,
- (c) What has been the impact of the change on the organization.

Student Impact

Interviewees were asked if there were any benefits accruing to students as

a result of the organizational change. The following reflects their responses.

Summary of Responses

Eight of the 17 interviews perceived positive benefits to students, such as curriculum changes and teaching methodology. Curriculum was enhanced through the sharing of resources because there were fewer boundaries between programs. Also, staff was challenged to teach in a different way, so began more use of powerpoint presentations, which could be exchanged among staff members. Nine interviews did not report any benefits to students, but this was not considered a negative, since one mandate of the change was that students would not be affected negatively. Of the nine, three people (non-Divisional staff) did not teach in the program, so were not as likely to know about curriculum differences.

Stakeholder Analysis

The executive does not teach so it is not surprising that they did not notice any impact from the change, either positive or negative. Those who were teaching (instructional staff), however, and in direct contact with students, said there had been an impact as a result of the change, and that the impact had been positive. Administrative and technical support also generally viewed the impact as positive. This reflection was because they worked with equipment and ensured resources were shared, wherever possible. They viewed this sharing as a good thing. They noticed that when one instructor invited a speaker to deliver a lecture on a special technique, all programs were invited to take the opportunity to use the guest speaker.

One interviewee reported that a survey of second-year students had been done by the TMT, with the result that there was "no difference to student learning." Typical comments from non-Divisional staff were they "didn't know if there was an impact on students," or that "there was no impact." This stakeholder group was not involved in daily operations, so were unlikely to have information that would contribute to this question.

Discussion

Most of the respondents did not think students were impacted by the change. This did not mean that students were negatively affected, but that they were probably not aware of any change. Of the respondents who felt students benefitted from the change, it was generally because of "indirect benefits through integration of programs and therefore additional dimensions to learning."

Instructor Impact

Interviewees were asked whether instructors had received any benefits regarding instructor development.

Summary of Responses

Eight of the 17 interviews thought the opportunities for professional development had improved since the change had been implemented. Four instructors reflected a concern with not having enough time to plan or attend any professional development activities, including inservice (a six-week internal offering of various strategy planning or technical upgrading workshops and seminars offered in the May-June time frame). The main reason instructors could not attend these offerings was that they taught throughout the May-June session.

Five interviewees did not see any change.

Stakeholder Analysis

Executive. Executives tended to think the professional development opportunities had improved, because of increased opportunities to share, learn about the quality management model, and be part of cross-functional teams such as the CQI and TMT teams. One executive expressed the opinion that "maybe the long-term gain will only be the staff development, understanding of quality management processes, examination of process improvement techniques, and team dynamics, all of which are pretty important."

Instructors. The instructors did not feel there was enough time for professional development activities, since they were spending more time in the classroom than before. However, two instructors had specific experience with resources being made available to attend conferences which, in their field, was important in order to keep up with the latest technical developments. Also, instructors could still apply for education leave.

Administrative and Technical Support. This stakeholder group answered for itself, rather than for instructor development. The group generally reported that training opportunities were given so that they could become "local experts," a term given to administrators who received technical training and then acted as trouble-shooters for the rest of the department.

Non-Divisional Staff. The responses for this question varied depending on this stakeholder group's understanding of what was being offered. Some thought professional development was enhanced because "there are better ideas

about how they can work together because of sharing of ideas between clusters."

But others felt that there was not a lot of professional development activity

because "blood was shunted to the core for survival."

Discussion

There was a fairly even split in responses regarding instructor professional development. Those who felt there were more development opportunities generally thought so because they "picked up new responsibilities." One interviewee thought that staff gained through "understanding the quality management process, examination of process improvement techniques, and team dynamics." A majority of respondents thought their contribution to the team movement was not having any effect on the rest of the organization compared to a smaller number who thought it was. More respondents from outside the Division thought the organization was moving in the team direction, but they interacted with other parts of the organization on a regular basis.

Organization Impact

Interviewees were asked "what benefits were realized through increased interaction or teaming in the organization?"

Summary of Responses

Interviewees were fairly evenly split regarding their view of the change effect on the organization. Some felt the organization was moving towards teams in order to "get away from long-term continuous permanent appointments. But the issue becomes workload, not a desire to move to a new model." In any event, most staff had been approached by other Divisions in the institution to try to

understand what was done and how it was working. This was seen as an interest expressed by other Divisions to understand the team leadership model in order to implement it or some of its better attributes.

Stakeholder Analysis

The two interesting stakeholder group answers for this question were the executive and the non-Divisional staff because both groups had a broader view of the organization than the instructors or administrative support and technical staff. While the executive majority believed there was not much movement toward teams in the rest of the institution, some had received calls from the other Divisions. Callers from other Divisions thought the response to funding cuts was unique, but once the budget was met, interest in how it was met had become a moot point. "The Divisions expressing interest tend to be the business-oriented Divisions." But the "apprenticeship kinds of activities -- their thinking is still quite historical and quite traditional." These comments reflected the different needs of the different Divisions within this postsecondary institution. Businessoriented Divisions would be interested in a team model of leadership, since that was what the instructors were teaching in their curriculum. Also, "there is a desire by staff to find some way to contribute to the leadership of their team." Apprenticeship programs are set up on the premise that in the workplace there is a foreman, or supervisor, and the workers are separate in that they provide specific skills not related to leadership. So it made sense to the executive that there might be different models for the leadership of Divisions, based on the model they would be expected to follow in the workplace.

The non-Division staff, however, felt that even though there was a "reluctance to change in the rest of the organization," some had seen teams begin to surface. Many programs wanted to know more about the process and, although they might not want the exact replica of the team model in the Division in this case, they might want to duplicate all the positive attributes, and side-step any negative ones.

Discussion

I expected to find that there had been a positive impact on the institution since teams are often used in business as a means to working effectively and efficiently. Indeed, interviewees were 100% adamant they would not go back to the old, hierarchical system, even if they could. They liked the current structure because it provided more autonomy, and provided synergies among all programs. They liked the team spirit and the support they experienced — almost a sense of camaraderie in an "us" (the Division) versus "them" (the rest of the institution). No doubt this result was a contributing factor to the sustained change, because the change had created a sense of community in the Division that was not apparent before the change.

Summary

Variable one, environment, found that a dynamic environment, both external and internal to the organization was in play, and this environment led to the impetus for the change to occur.

Variable two, inputs, found that the people, or organizational structure had changed from a traditional hierarchy to a flat Team Leadership model, and that all

participants in the interviews knew, and understood this change. They also understood the reason for the change, i.e., reduction in funding, as well as the short time frame required to make the decision and implement it.

Variable three, key factors and behaviour processes, found the key factors of leadership, change agents, and validity were all present. These were the key factors that sustained change in the Division. The interviewees did not think there was support by the culture. Therefore cultural support was not a factor influencing sustainability. At the same time, the lack of support did not hinder the change in any way. Regarding behaviour processes, there were prevailing patterns of behaviour, interactions, and relations among groups and individuals -- including cooperation, conflict, communication, controlling and rewarding behaviour, decision-making, and problem solving that were positive. In this study, interviews revealed that all staff were very positive about the behaviour exhibited during and after the change. They reported a high commitment between the leadership team members and between teams to making the change work. People willingly took on extra work if they thought it would help the team leaders survive. Interviewees thought they had more autonomy to make decisions that in the past seemed petty approval requests. Even though some people lost status by losing their Program Head or Assistant Program Head position, there were only a few instances where this led to a problem within the clusters. Whenever a conflict occurred, if the team leader could not resolve it, he/she had several resources, i.e., the Dean, Associate Dean, or Human Resource facilitators to mediate. In addition, several retreats for the leadership team members helped to build a cohesive Division, all

intent on making the change successful.

The literature indicates that communication, cooperation, and positive conflict resolution contribute to sustained change. Clearly, the Division respondents indicated that all these communication skills were in place, and that the Dean or Associate Dean or Team Leader gave immediate attention to solve any conflicts or communication problems as they arose.

Variable four, outputs, was the sustained change (organizational structure) that provided the reason for this study. This particular change was an organizational structure that went from a traditional hierarchy to a team leadership model, reducing administrative staff from 21 Program Heads and Assistant Program Heads to 4 Team Leaders. The change had been sustained for a three-year period.

Variable five, impact, found that there had been a positive impact on the Division. There were benefits to instructors, students, and the institution, through increased interaction and sharing of resources within the Division community. This supported Fullan's (1982) belief that an evaluation should be conducted to determine if there was any impact so that all the effort and energy placed on change would be worthwhile. However, the major outcome was an unexpected outcome for people in this study. Whereas the impact literature described the impact in terms of benefits to the ability of students to learn, instructor professional development, and increased teaming in the organization, the findings reflect benefits of a different nature. What was found instead was that the

sense of community developed through the closeness required by several facilitated team building sessions, and a sense of "us" (the Division) versus "them" (the institution). So benefits were realized, but from a different perspective, and for unexpected reasons. The perspective was that students and instructors benefitted through shared resources, rather than because of the change (organizational hierarchy). The organization benefitted because it learned that Divisions could operate independently from each other, and that leadership teams could be a concept to pursue, but not necessarily in exactly the same format as the Team Leader model under study. This finding would not surprise Mohr (1992), who said that evaluation should be done, not only to find out if the impact was positive or negative, but also if there were any impacts that were unintended.

CHAPTER 6

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS, RECOMMENDATIONS, AND IMPLICATIONS

An overview of the study of a sustained change in a postsecondary institution is presented in this chapter. Conclusions that contribute to change theory as it relates to postsecondary institutions are offered. This includes key factors, processes, and impacts of change on postsecondary institutions as they relate to sustained change. Where differences in perceptions of stakeholder groups has an influence on the outcome or recommendations, these differences are identified. In the final section, recommendations for practice, and implications for further research are proposed. This chapter closes with personal comments, reflecting personal reasons for undertaking this study.

Summary of the Study

A major change to the organizational structure of a Division in a Western Canadian postsecondary institution was sustained over a three-year period (1994 - 1997). The impetus for this change was a significant (21%) reduction in funding from the Provincial government. This organizational change was completed even though no other Division used the same approach to solving their 21% funding reduction challenge. The context of the study indicated how serious were the pressures placed on postsecondary institutions, and how dramatic was the need for change in education institutions. This section presents the purpose of the study, methods employed in addressing the research questions, and a summary of the findings presented in Chapter 5.

Purpose

The purpose of this study was twofold. One purpose was to identify the key factors and processes that contributed to a sustained change effort. The second purpose was to assess the impact of the change on the postsecondary institution, in order to provide an insight into whether the change, albeit sustained, had an effect on students, instructors, or the organization.

The two specific research questions to address this purpose, therefore, were:

- (1) What were the key factors and processes that sustained change in a postsecondary institution?
- (2) What were the impacts of the change on students, instructors, and the organization?

Justification

This study was justified on the basis that postsecondary education was facing major changes in the environment through changing public expectations and resulting government funding reductions. Postsecondary educational institutions had not previously been challenged with change of the magnitude required to meet this case's funding reductions.

Method

The study employed a case study strategy using 17 semi-structured interviews, coupled with document analysis available from the institution studied. The data were coded in such a way that it could be sorted both by individual and by stakeholder groups. Stakeholder groups were identified as executive,

instructional staff, administrative support and technical staff, and non-Divisional staff. The purpose of coding in these two ways was to determine if the findings reflected differences in opinion by individual respondents or by stakeholder group, (given their status in the organizational hierarchy).

Findings

Findings in relation to Specific Research Question 1, "What were the key factors and processes that contributed to sustained change?" were somewhat different from the literature findings. The key factors were leadership, change agents, and validity, but the key factor of cultural support, identified in the literature, was not evident in this study. The key processes were open, consistent, and ongoing communication and opportunity for the creation of trust between and among executive and staff. The major contributor to these processes was the provision of facilitation strategies that allowed for an opportunity to build communication and trust initiatives.

Findings in relation to Specific Research Question 2, "What were the impacts of the change?" were positive. Interviews revealed student curriculum was enhanced, instructor professional development occurred, and institution organization structure change was evident in small amounts. However, the key finding was not incremental structural or management change, but the benefit that accrued from increased interaction. Reduced resources meant that more sharing of office and classroom space and equipment, and increased access to the Dean provided unexpected benefits. Students benefitted from an interaction with students of other disciplines with a similar background to their own. Instructors

benefitted from the removal of barriers to communication. They gained knowledge of working in teams using participative decision-making. The biggest benefit was likely the empowerment and autonomy achieved through the removal of levels of hierarchy. The institution benefitted through a realization that the entire organization does not have to structure itself in the same way in order for each Division to succeed.

Conclusions

On the basis of the findings derived from the data and their relationship to the conceptual framework presented in Figure 2, the following conclusions are offered. For the purpose of clarity, conclusions are presented in bold print.

Key Factors

The first question regarding which key factors and processes contributed to the sustained change found that three of the four key factors suggested in the literature were significant in sustaining the change. They were leadership, (in the form of the Dean and Associate Dean); change agents, (in the form of the CQI team and TMT); and validity (in that staff believed a change was necessary and that the Division's particular approach to the change was valid). The fourth key factor, a supporting culture, was not present in this institution. The final probe asked staff to identify what they thought had kept the change from backsliding. The overwhelming response was the dedication and commitment of the leaders (Dean and Team Leaders), and the resulting trust and commitment of the instructional and administrative support staff.

The findings match the literature for three key factors that contribute to

sustained change: leadership, change agents, and validity. One key factor, named in the literature, was not present and evidently was not needed: support of the culture.

Four conclusions are a result of these findings:

- (1) Leadership was the primary key factor in sustaining change in this postsecondary Division. A change cannot be sustained without the support of key stakeholders. Those involved believed the leadership wanted a particular change, and they accepted the leadership influence.
- (2) Participants in the solution need to understand the reasons for the change intellectually. The participative decision making used to find the solution, coupled with ongoing participation in decision-making committed support to sustain the change. For instance, while the change was valid, other Divisions in this institution did not choose the same method to meet the funding cuts. If the staff did not understand the change and felt part of the solution, they could have resisted the change, stonewalled the attempt to move to a different organizational structure, and in the end the change might have reverted to the old structure. In the final analysis, postsecondary institution staff is educated and welcomes a collegial approach with participative solution building. As long as staff understand the need, and are a part of the solution, they will support the decision, as found in this research.
- (3) Cultural support is not necessary for change. This management change was sustained without the support of the culture. This is contrary to what several authors believe. For example, Walton (1995), cites several examples in her study

on transformative culture where organizations first change the culture, then undertake other changes in the organization (pp. 151 - 168). The culture change has occurred when *all* members of the organization have a shared understanding and commitment (p. 166). According to Walton this is necessary for change to occur and to be sustained. In the Division studied, a committed organizational culture was not apparent, even though the change was sustained.

(4) Divisions operate independently, and therefore don't require the entire support of the institution to carry out their business. Each Division has the same goal: to provide quality education through quality curriculum development and delivery. Even if one Division was to be totally removed, the whole system would not fall apart. This is a major difference between an educational institution and a corporation. In a corporation, each department, in order to meet the objective of the company, must work with other departments. In a postsecondary institution, the overall goal is to provide quality education, but no Division is totally dependent on any other Division to provide this outcome. In fact, there are rivalries for resources based on how each Division sees its importance in the institution and to the community.

This conclusion differs from the conclusions of several authors, including Chaffee and Jacobson (1997), Pawar and Eastman (1997), and, Schneider, Brief and Guzzo (1996) who addressed organizational change strategy based on preparing the climate and culture for sustainability. They show in their research of various large organizations that changes are more likely to stick when the organization is ready, and the change strategy refers to the entire organization.

They note that a change, such as the organizational hierarchy change in this study, is effective when these structural changes are associated with changes in the psychology of employees.

Behavioural Processes

The first question regarding which key factors and processes contributed to the sustained change found that the key behaviour processes observed during and after the change reflected cooperation, closeness, and, as one person interviewed commented, "stubbornness." Everyone drew together to make the change work. The contributing factor for the close cooperation seen in this study was the tremendous efforts the leadership undertook to ensure communication was continuous. Several communication interventions were engineered. The creation of a CQI team, which involved a cross-functional staff in proposing the solution, was the first intervention. The second communication intervention was having the Continuous Quality Improvement (CQI) team present its recommendations to the executive: Vice-President Academic, Dean and Associate Dean. The third communication intervention was the creation of a Transition Monitoring Team (TMT) that set up several communication passages, such as an anonymous telephone "hot line," survey instruments, a report with recommendations to which the Team Leadership formally responded, and continuous meetings and facilitated retreats arranged under the auspices of the TMT. A fourth intervention was the second TMT, using new staff. A fifth intervention was the workload study done in response to a recommendation from the second TMT.

Three conclusions are a result of these findings:

- (1) All the communication activity clearly worked to create a tight-knit group that began to see themselves as a community separate from the institution as a whole. This resulted in a "we/they" scenario. This scenario began to play itself out in an issue of recognition, meaning "we accomplished this difficult feat, and gave ourselves up for the good of the institution now, where is our reward."
- (2) People will work hard to achieve a goal, but they want to be recognized in some way for their achievement. The documentation provided by the 1998 review indicated that staff did not want to return to the old hierarchy, corroborating the interview findings in this study. However, it pointed out that staff felt they had never been acknowledged for the tremendous effort they had contributed to the institution by accepting a greater workload than instructors in other Divisions. They had downsized in the area of administration rather than in the classroom, and they had accepted administrative work redistribution as a result. This may reflect the desire people have who enter the teaching profession to provide an excellent education experience to students, regardless of the amount of work it takes to do so. However, human nature suggests people want acknowledgment for this effort, especially if there is a disparity perceived across, in this case, various Divisions.
- (3) Excellent facilitation strategies are necessary to sustain change. The communication activity was deliberate, continuous, and supported by the leadership. This activity reduced or eliminated opportunity for false rumours. It

also ensured everyone understood anything that was happening, why it was happening, and provided the opportunity for all staff to question motives.

Consider that the CQI is a tool for generating solutions, which are then taken to management for a decision. In this case, management made the decision to accept the recommendation presented. In addition, readers of this research must understand that there was no collegial model at this institution. Decision-making was considered the privilege of the management. Therefore, it was apparent that the decision to accept the recommendations of the CQI team generated trust and commitment to the leadership team.

Impact

The second question regarding the impacts of the change on students, instructors, and the organization, resulted in a finding that all elements benefited, but the unexpected benefit was development of community.

The conclusion as a result of these findings is:

(1) A Division in a postsecondary institution can develop and sustain a subculture of "community," wherein all staff (including executive, instructional and administrative support staff), working together, can accomplish more than individuals working separately. Team Leaders and staff drew together as a unit for survival against outside forces, i.e., the government reduction in funding. This was necessary so that they maintained a quality program for students. This accomplished two goals: the credibility of the institution and, therefore, the instructors, was maintained. The credibility, of course, then spills over to the student. The student comes through a quality

program and therefore is employable. Everyone wins in this scenario.

Cooperation and improved relations had a positive impact on the Division, including students, instructor development, and the organization as a whole. The impact on instructors was that they benefitted from successfully working in teams. Instructors became familiar with the processes necessary to involve peers in decision-making and solution building. Further, as a result of this change, instructors were more autonomous and would be more empowered to be contributors to the survival of any program in any future program facing severe funding reduction. They did not rely solely on the leadership to solve all the problems and make all the decisions. Instructors from this Division are truly leaders themselves, acting to ensure their Programs of Study survived. This finding represents a positive impact on instructors. Empowering instructors was not a stated goal, but it was likely an implicit expectation that logical, educated, committed people would support the participative solutions of their colleagues. (2) There is no requirement for every Division in a postsecondary institution to operate the same way. While there has been some movement in the rest of the organization toward team leadership, no other Division has opted for the same approach. What the institution learned, then, from the process is that Divisions could operate differently, and the overall instructional goals could be achieved. The trend has been to design a team that suits its Division, and no team looks the same as the one created in the Division studied. Therefore, the major impact on the institution is the realization that Divisions do not need to look exactly alike in

organizational structure. The impact of the change on the institution has been

positive, but unintended. This Division thought the institution would move toward the same model they designed, and hence expressed disappointment when it did not happen. But the Division was successful in demonstrating to the institution that each Division could operate independently from each other in management matters.

(3) Students benefit from sharing resources with students of other disciplines. The impact on students was that they benefitted through an integration of programs and sharing of facilities, equipment, and space.

Therefore, they learned more about related disciplines, which they were able to take with them into the workplace. Students from the Programs of Study of this Division are often required to work with each other in the workplace. It is therefore a benefit that students became more familiar with the value a graduate from another discipline would bring to the work place. This impact on the students is positive. While it was a goal to ensure there were no negative impacts on students, the type of positive impact in the Division was unintended, as it could not be foreseen that students would benefit from a sharing of facilities, space, and equipment.

Contributions to Theory

This study set out to contribute to change theory in postsecondary institutions as it related to the intervention between a (former) existing state and a new state in a change process. A conceptual framework (Figure 2) was used to determine key factors and behaviour processes that sustain change, and determine if there was a resulting impact on the institution. This framework was based on

the work of Harrison (1994) and Fullan (1982).

The vast literature on change in the workplace outlined a broad range of factors and processes that sustain change. Two variables reflect differences between current theory and current practice, as determined in this study. Table 6.1 reflects these differences for the element of key factors that contributed to sustained change:

Table 6.1

Key Factors: Current Theory Versus Current Practice

| Current Theory | | Current Practice | | | |
|------------------|---|---------------------|---------------|---|---------------------|
| Key Factors | | | Key Factors | | |
| Leadership | | 6 | Leadership | | 9 |
| Change agents | = | Sustained Change | Change agents | = | Sustained Change |
| Validity | | | Validity | | |
| Cultural support | | | | | |

Table 6.1 reflects current theory, wherein key factors that were identified as those expected to be present if change was to be sustained, were leadership, change agents, validity, and, cultural support. Based on the findings of this study, current practice for postsecondary educational institutions to sustain change appear to be leadership, change agents (specifically, participative decision-making such as CQI, followed by TMT during the transition from the previous situation to the new, or changed, situation), and, validity.

As can be seen in Table 6.2, the key processes identified in Current Theory indicate that relationships must be positive, including cooperation,

communication, conflict resolution, controlling and rewarding behaviour and participative decision-making and problem solving. The Current Practice reflects the need for ongoing communication initiatives, not just at the direct time of change, and that opportunities need to be sought out to ensure continuing trust so that the change can be sustained.

Table 6.2

Behaviour Processes: Current Theory Versus Current Practice

| Current Theory | | Current Practice | | | |
|---|-----------|--|---|---------------------|--|
| Key Processes | | Key Processes | | | |
| Relations among groups and individuals: cooperation, conflict resolution, and communication | Sustained | Relations among groups and individuals must remain open, through consistent, ongoing communication | | Sustained Change | |
| Controlling and rewarding behaviour | = Change | | = | | |
| Participative decision-making, and problem solving | | Create opportunities for trust between and among executive and staff. | | | |

These findings agree with Harrison (1994), who indicated that change will be more effective if there are "high levels of trust, open communication of feelings and needs between ranks, and a de-emphasis of status differences" (p. 40). Cooperation enhances trust issues and therefore smoothes implementation effectiveness. The findings match theory in this case.

The findings do not agree with the conclusions drawn by Hanson (1996) in his work on educational administration and change where he discussed the

resistance to change that can be expected at the individual level due to vested interests. While several people lost status, and the opportunity for promotion was reduced, resistance was not evident in the Division.

In Table 6.3, the impact theory indicates benefits to students, instructors, and the organization.

Table 6.3

<u>Difference Between Impact Theory and Practice</u>

| Impact Element | Expected Result of Implementation Fullan (1991) | Specific Result of Implementation in this Study |
|---|--|---|
| Student Learning | Changes will have a positive effect on student learning, through a positive learning [i.e., curriculum] environment (pp. 170 - 176) | Change had a positive effect on student learning, through sharing and through interaction with other disciplines. |
| Instructor Professional Development | Change may affect opportunity for leadership roles in decision- making opportunities or in supervision opportunities (pp. 138-139) | Change affected opportunity for instructor autonomy and empowerment. |
| Increased Interaction in the Organization | The change positively affects the larger community, or organization (pp. 348-349) | Change in the Division under study did not affect the organization directly. Indirectly, it has provided a window of opportunity for each Division to operate independently in administrative structure and in decision-making. |

The findings agree with Fullan's (1991) concept of how change in

education affects students, because the learning environment is positive.

However, the learning in this case was enhanced <u>further</u> by the type of interaction and sharing that was made possible, in effect, by reduced resources. With regard to instructor professional development, Fullan missed the opportunity to explore autonomy and empowerment, preferring to discuss leadership on the basis of supervision rather than peer leadership. The impact the change had on the entire organization was covered somewhat in the discussion on Chaffee and Jacobson (1997) with regard to a subculture created in the organization. However, the concept of each Division operating as a separate entity was not covered by these authors.

Based on the findings of this study in a postsecondary Division, the following model, Figure 3, more adequately reflects change theory as it is applied to postsecondary education in this case.

Figure 3 depicts a model that is linear; i.e., resources enter, key factors and processes take place, and the result is change. But change itself is not linear.

That is, the change can and will be dynamic as external conditions (the environment) vary. In addition, the impact wrought by the change can cause a dynamic environment. If the impact is negative, the change may slide back to its previous state. Another possibility is that change will continue incrementally as participants in the change process try to fix the current state.

Figure 3: A Proposed Model for Postsecondary Change

<-----E N V I R O N M E N T----->>>

| INPUT | 1 | TORS AND CESSES | | OUTPUT | | IMPACT |
|---------------------------|---|---|---|---------------------------------|---------------|-------------------------------|
| Resources | | ors that ence Change | | Result | | Impact |
| | | | | Sustained | > | Student |
| Hierarchical | • L | eadership | | Change: | < | Learning |
| organization structure | • C | hange agents CQI and TMT) Talidity of the hange | > | Team leadership Community | > \ | Instructor Autonomy and |
| | Beha | viour Processes | | collegiality | | Empowerment |
| | | Influence | | | | |
| | Chan | | < | | > | |
| | On an | pen, consistent, and ongoing communication reate trust- uilding portunities etween and mong executive and staff | | | V | Learning Organization |

<-----E N V I R O N M E N T---->>>

Recommendations for Practice

If a postsecondary institution were to undertake a major change, it may consider the following formula in order to prepare for sustained change:

- 1. Make the change in response to a bona fide need (validity).
- Lead through commitment. Leaders are required to be committed to see the change through to sustainability. All participants in the change need to perceive that leaders are committed and will be there for the long haul (to

- provide leadership).
- 3. Plan several interventions, including participative decision-making, where solutions are invited and used. This agrees with Levin's (1998) research that indicated a reduction of administration and sharing of power resulted in more cooperation in colleges attempting change.
- 4. Institute systematic transition communication strategies such as a Transition Monitoring Team. Ensure the Team has a purpose, is valid, and produces a report to which leadership responds.
- 5. Because of the autonomous nature of postsecondary programs or Divisions, it is not necessary to expend extensive effort on culture change since, at least in this case, it was not necessary to have the culture "buy in" to the change.

The most positive outcome in this study was a stronger sense of collegiality in the Division, as staff accepted and "embraced" the change.

Synergies between programs became evident. The funding cutbacks did not affect students or programming because the instructors were dedicated and committed to their profession.

Recommendations for Further Research

In addition to the standard recommendation of replication of the study in other contexts, the following recommendations are offered for further research:

 The majority of the literature on change is available in the management literature. The reason for this appears to be that researchers believe management of organizations is the same regardless of the organization. The fact that one key factor was missing from the postsecondary culture in this

- case provides some indication that postsecondary organizational cultures may be different from other management structures. Therefore, the recommendation is offered that postsecondary organizations should be researched to determine other differences between postsecondary organizations and business organizations.
- 2. The impact of change on educational institutions has received little attention in the literature. Most of the impact literature has to do with the change in curriculum. Therefore, the recommendation is offered that the impact of change to the organizational structure be given greater research attention.
- 3. It seems as though the lack of support in the culture created a "we/they" scenario. All participants in the Division became even more dedicated to making the change work. The Division became more close-knit. It appears that this lack of cultural support became a facilitator of change. It united the staff. Therefore, the concept of creating relationships where a we/they scenario is encouraged is an enabler of sustained change that could be researched.
- 4. Current chaos theory suggests that changes happen haphazardly. Did this change happen haphazardly or strategically; i.e., was the institution moving toward team leadership anyway? An opportunity for research would be to determine if there are certain conditions in a postsecondary institution that lend themselves to this type of change.
- 5. The Transition Monitoring team did not receive remuneration, but the members of this team played a key role in the outcome. Would staff have

been as willing to trust a paid TMT and/or an external TMT? Also important is the question of how to staff a TMT. Is it through volunteer efforts or by carefully selected cooperators?

Implications

There are increasingly more forces at work in the environment that will require postsecondary institutions to change. Fullan (1993) suggests these forces are inevitable, such as "government policy changes or gets constantly redefined, key leaders leave, important contact people are shifted to another role, new technology is invented" (p. 19). Postsecondary institutions will need to prepare for the changes to come.

When a program of study is terminated, or shut down, in a postsecondary institution, it takes tremendous resources (money and staff) to start up again. Institutions would find it difficult to get funding for a program once it has been shut down. The implication is that postsecondary institutions must be very careful not to be influenced by government funding or the economy. The tactic of "keeping the pilot light burning" has turned out to be useful for the Division studied. Other provinces shut down similar programs because of the economy, and are now sending their students to the one or two existing programs that continued (at the sending province's expense).

The culture of a postsecondary institution is different from the culture of a business organization. Educators are great creators of knowledge, but they often work in isolation in the classroom. The opportunity to share their knowledge among staff is an impetus for even better curriculum design and delivery. New

ways of cooperating with each other were discovered. In business organizations, staff usually work together to achieve the strategy of the department or corporation, with frequent meetings to ensure targets are being met.

Implications for postsecondary managers and senior administration are:

- Stable leadership is required for sustained change to gain commitment and trust. If participants perceive leaders are short-term, perhaps placed specifically to effect a change, then the change is also likely to be short-lived.
 One executive commented "if the Dean were to leave or retire, it would be interesting to see how long the change would last."
- 2. Change agent interventions require participative decision-making. Managers and senior administrators would benefit from a mentor or organizational development facilitator to work with them over a period of time (in this case it was one year), constantly coaching managers so that their behaviour can change from hierarchical decision-making to participative decision-making. Without this coaching, managers run the risk of reverting to the old style of decision-making because it is familiar and therefore expedient. Once participants perceive their involvement is not being solicited, or that their recommendations are not being implemented, trust and commitment may be lost.

Personal Comments

I have a background in business and industry, specializing in change and organizational behaviour. For five years I was a training advisor for a major resource company, where I developed and delivered workshops on change. I

noticed that it was difficult to institutionalize change. Either the process never began, due to confusion about the requirement for a department to change; or if the process did begin, it was often defeated in favour of the old way of doing things.

Upon moving to teaching and administration in postsecondary institutions, I observed that many of these institutions lagged behind business and industry in their view of what should be a reasonable return on investment, or audit of the budget from a cost/benefit point of view. Upon investigation, it appeared the attention that for-profit industry paid to business processes was due to current economic or other environmental forces. Rarely had these forces affected the traditional postsecondary institution as they were dependent almost solely on government funding to operate; and, government funding had remained stable for many years. Therefore, the institutions continued to operate in a traditional manner. Suddenly, in the 1990s, postsecondary institutions faced funding reductions. I was interested in how a very traditional institution would respond to the environmental forces which business and industry had already addressed. Would response be in the same manner, using the same methods as outlined in management change literature.

In planning the research, I selected the case and then formulated the research problem, based on the literature review. This study is not meant to be a comparison between business and industry and postsecondary institutions regarding organization behaviour. However, much of the literature was available in the management area, which addressed business and industry. In business

organizations faced with funding cuts or other resource issues, the rule has been a downsizing measure. In this postsecondary case, everyone was assured they would keep their jobs, and the leadership team made every effort to meet this commitment. When staff understand the goal is to meet funding cuts but in the process no one is going to lose their job, it appears there is less reason for resistance to change.

Coupled with the promise of zero job loss, a mandate of the CQI was to ensure the Program of Study would remain solid. Students would receive the same excellent education as in the past. Instructors met and exceeded this goal, again demonstrating zero resistance.

What I learned from this research was more than how to sustain change. I also learned what can be accomplished by a dedicated group of individuals, if they are convinced what they are doing is the right thing to do. I also had an insight into the teaching profession. People who opt for a teaching career generally seem to have the interest of the student paramount. The teachers in this institution studied clearly are proud of the institution and their association with it. That is one reason for their long service and committed and dedicated service.

Another insight was the importance of the leadership of a change thrust. The leader of the change had two strong beliefs: that what he was doing, i.e. saving the program through meeting funding reductions; and, saving the jobs of the dedicated teachers in the program, were worth doing for the good of the profession and the institution. This strong belief propelled him to action. His leadership garnered the trust and commitment of the staff. This strong belief in

the "rightness" of the change requirement has some differences from what I have observed in changes in industry.

In industry change, when there is a business requirement, such as funding reductions, a leader might strategize how to meet the requirement, but the change process tends to have a negative outcome, such as downsizing. Leaders are often brought in to effect a change, but they have no long-term plan to see the change through, since once their role is complete, the leader may move on to another challenge. Hence, leaders in this scenario are hired for their ability to shake up a division, make harsh but necessary cuts and changes, but they do not stay for the maintenance phase once the division settles.

This case shows the human side of participants as they struggle together to meet the requirements of the institution while balancing the needs of the teaching profession: to produce skilled graduates who will carry on the profession in society. I anticipate this sustained management change in this Division will prove to be a significant long-term benefit for this postsecondary institution.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Alberta Advanced Education and Career Development. (1995, September). Vision for change: A concept paper for the development of a virtual learning system. Edmonton, Alberta: Adult Development Branch.
- Andrews, M. B., Holdaway, E. A., & Mowat, G. L. (1997). Postsecondary Education in Alberta Since 1945. In G. A. Jones (Ed.), *Higher education in Canada: Different systems, different perspectives*. New York: Garland Publishing, Inc.
- Baldridge, J. V. (1975). Change agents: Organizational change and the consultant's role -- rules for effective action. In J. V. Baldridge & T. E. Deal (eds.). *Managing change in educational organizations*. Berkeley, CA: McCutchan Publishing Corporation.
- Beckhard, R. & Harris, R. T. (1977). Organizational transitions: Managing complex change. Reading, Mass: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.
- Beckhard R., & Harris, R. T. (1987). Organizational transitions: Managing complex change. Reading, Mass: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.
- Bennis, W., & Nanus, B. (1997). *Leaders: Strategies for taking charge.* New York: HarperCollins Publishers.
- Berg, B. L. (1989). *Qualitative research methods for the social sciences*. Needham Heights, Massachusetts: Allyn and Bacon.
- Block P. (1993). Stewardship: Choosing service over self-interest. San Francisco: Berrett-Hoehler Publishers, Inc.
- Bridges, W. (1991). Managing transitions: Making the most of change.
 Reading: Corporate & Professional Publishing Group.
- Buchanan, D., & Badham, R. (1999). Politics and organizational change: The lived experience. *Human Relations*. 52(5) (pp. 609-629) New York: Plenum Publishing Corporation.
- Cameron, K. S., & Ulrich, D. O. (1986). Transformational leadership in colleges and universities. In J. C. Smart (Ed.), *Higher education: Handbook of theory and research: Vol. 2* (pp. 1-42). New York: Agathon.

- Chaffee, E., & Jacobson, S. W. (1997). Creating and changing institutional cultures. In Peterson, Dill, Meets, and Associates (Eds.), *Planning and management for a changing environment* (pp. 230-245). San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Chaffee, E., & Sherr, L. A. (1992). *Quality: Transforming postsecondary education*. (ASHE-ERIC Higher Education Reports No.92:003). Washington: The George Washington University.
- Collins concise dictionary (3rd ed.). (1995). Glasgow: Harper Collins Publishers.
- Coring Project Team (1997). *Coring project report.* Edmonton, Alberta: Northern Alberta Institute of Technology.
- Cross Functional Team Report (1994). Unpublished raw data.
- De Celles, P. (1995). Managing change: Going around in circles...but in the right direction. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services Canada.
- Dennison, John D., & Gallagher, P. (1986). Canada's community colleges: A critical analysis. Vancouver: University of British Columbia Press.
- Dolence, M. G. & Donald, M. N. (1995). Transforming higher education: A vision for learning in the 21st century. Ann Arbor, MI: Society for College and University Planning.
- Egan, C. (1995). Creating organizational advantage. Oxford, England: Butterworth-Heinemann Ltd.
- Emberley, P. C. (1996). Zero tolerance: Hot button politics in Canada's universities. Toronto: Penguin Books Canada Ltd.
- Fullan, M. (1982). *The meaning of educational change*. Toronto: Ontario Institute for Studies in Education.
- Fullan, M. (1991). *The new meaning of educational change*. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Fullan, M. (1993). Change forces: Probing the depths of educational reform. London, England: The Falmer Press.
- Gall, M. D., Borg, W. R. & Gall, J. P. (1996). Educational research: An introduction. New York: Longman Publishers USA.

- Gioia, D. A. & Thomas, J. B. (1996). Identity, image, and issue interpretation: Sensemaking during strategic change in academia. *Administrative science quarterly*. 41(3) pp. 370-403.
- Girard, A., & Uhl, N. (1992). Conclusion. In A. D. Gregor and G. Jasmin (eds.). Higher education in Canada. Minister of Supply and Services Canada. (Cat. No. S2-196/1992E).
- Greiner, L. E. & Schein, V. E. (1988). Power and organization development:

 Mobilizing power to implement change. Reading, Mass: Addison Wesley
 Publishing Company.
- Guba, E. G., & Lincoln, Y. S. (1988). *Effective evaluation*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Hamlin, B., Reidy, M., & Stewart, J. (1997). Changing the management culture in one part of the British Civil Service through visionary leadership and strategically led research-based OD interventions. *Journal of applied management studies* 6(2), pp. 233-251.
- Hammer, M., & Champy, J. (1993). Reengineering the corporation. New York: HarperCollins Publishers, Inc.
- Hanna, D. P (1988). *Designing organizations for high performance*. Don Mills: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.
- Hanson, M. E. (1996). Educational change. In *Educational administration and organizational behavior* (pp. 281-322). Needham Heights: Allyn and Bacon.
- Hardy, C. (1996). The politics of collegiality. Retrenchment strategies in Canadian universities. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Harrison, M. I. (1994). Diagnosing organizations: Methods, models, and processes. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Hartley, J. F. (1995). Case studies in organizational research. In *Qualitative* methods in organizational research: A practical guide (pp. 208-229). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Harvey, T. R. (1990). Checklist for change: A pragmatic approach to creating and controlling change. Needham Heights: Allyn and Bacon.
- Hathaway, W. E. (1990). Education and technology at the crossroads. North York, Ontario: Captus Press Inc.

- Havelock, R. G. (1973). The change agent's guide to innovation in education. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Educational Technology Publications.
- Hersey, P. & Blanchard, K. (1993). Management of organizational behaviour:

 Utilizing human resources. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice-Hall,
 Inc.
- Hesselbein, F., Goldsmith, M. & Beckhard, R. (1997). *The organization of the future*. New York: The Peter F. Drucker foundation for Nonprofit Management.
- House, E. R. (1980). Evaluating with validity. Beverly Hills: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Hurst, D. K. (1995). Crisis & renewal: Meeting the challenge of organizational change. Boston: Harvard Business School Press.
- Jick, T. D. (1993). Managing change: Cases and concepts. Burr Ridge: Richard D. Irwin, Inc.
- Kanter, R. M., Stein, B. A. & Jick, T. D. (1992). The challenge of organizational change: How companies experience it and leaders guide it. New York: The Free Press.
- Ketchum, L. D. (1992). All teams are not created equal: How employee empowerment really works. Newbury Park: Sage Publications, Inc.
- King, N. (1995). The Qualitative Research Interview. In *Qualitative methods* in organizational research: A practical guide (pp. 14-36). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Kirkman, B. L. & Shapiro, D. L. (1997). The impact of cultural values on employee resistance to teams: Toward a model of globalized self-managing work team effectiveness. *Academy of management: The academy of management review.* 22(3) pp. 730-757.
- Levin, J. S. (1998). Presidential Influence, Leadership Succession, and Multiple Interpretations of Organizational Change. The review of higher education: The journal of the association for the study of higher education. 21(4) pp. 405-425.
- Lippitt, G. L., Langseth, P. & Mossop, J. (1985). *Implementing organizational change: A practical guide to managing change efforts.* San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Inc.

- Merriam, S. B. (1988). Case study research in education: A qualitative approach. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Inc.
- Miles, M. B. & Huberman, A. M. (1994). Qualitative data anaysis: An expanded Sourcebook. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Miles, M. B. & Huberman, A. M.(1984). Qualitative data analysis: A sourcebook of new methods. Newbury Park, California: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Miles, R. H. (1997). Leading corporate transformation: A blueprint for business renewal. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Publishers.
- Mohr, L. B. (1992). *Impact analysis for program evaluation*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Morgan, G. (1997). *Images of organization*. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Nadler, D. A., Shaw, R. B., Walton, A. E., and Associates. (1995). *Discontinuous change: Leading organizational transformation*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass
- Northern Alberta Institute of Technology (1997). Placement survey summary '97.
- Oliver, Christine (1997). Sustainable competitive advantage: Combining institutional and resource-based views. *Strategic management journal*. 18(9) pp. 697-713.
- Ottaway, R. N. (2979). *Change agents at work*. Westport, Connecticut: Greenwood Press.
- Owens, R. G. (1998). Organizational change. In *Organizational behavior in education* (pp. 287-331). Needham Heights: Allyn and Bacon.
- Patton, M. Q. (1997). *Utilization-focused evaluation: The new century text*. Thousand Oaks: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Pawar, B. S., Eastman, K. K. (1997). The nature and implications of contextual influences on transformational leadership: A conceptual examination. *Academy of management: The Academy of management review.* 22(1) pp. 80-109.
- Pomrenke, V. (1982). Team leadership development. In G. M. Hipps (ed.). Effective planned change strategies. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Inc., Publishers.

- Porter, L. W., Lawler, E., & Hackman, J. R. (1975). *Behaviour in Organizations*. New York: McGraw-Hill Book Company.
- Quinn, R. E., Faerman, S. R., Thompson, M. P., & McGrath, M. R. (1996).

 Becoming a master manager: A competency framework. Toronto: John Wiley & Sons. Inc.
- Rowley, D. J., Lujan, H. D., & Dolance, M. G. (1997). Strategic change in colleges and universities: Planning to survive and prosper. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Russo, C. W. (1995). ISO 9000 and Malcolm Baldridge in training and education: A practical application guide. Lawrence: Charro Publishers, Inc.
- Schein, E. H. (1969). *Process consultation: It's role in organization development*. Reading, Mass: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company.
- Schmoker, M. J., & Wilson, R. B. (1993). Total quality education: Profiles of schools that demonstrate the power of Deming's management principles. Bloomington, Indiana: Phi Delta Kappa Educational Foundation.
- Schneider, B., Brief, A., & Guzzo, R. (1996). Creating a climate and culture for sustainable organizational change. *Organizational dynamics*, 24(4), pp. 6-16.
- Shapiro, N. S., & Levine, J. H. (1999). Creating learning communities: A practical guide to winning support, organizing for change, and implementing programs. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Inc., Publishers.
- Shepherdson, D. (1994). *Meeting the challenge: Managing change in the nineties.* The Conference Board of Canada.
- Small, J. M. (1995). Reform in Higher Education in Canada. *Higher education quarterly*, 49(2), pp. 113-126.
- Soetaert, E. (1998). A review of the 1995 restructuring of the school of health sciences. Edmonton, Alberta: Northern Alberta Institute of Technology, Department of Organizational Development Services.
- Stake, R. E. (1998). Case Studies. In Denzin, N. K. & Lincoln, Y. (Ed.), Strategies of qualitative inquiry. Thousand Oaks, California: Sage Publications Ltd.

- Starke, F. A. & Sexty, R. W. (1995). Contemporary management in Canada. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Task Force on the Organization of Work. (1994). *The organization change process*. Premier's council on Economic Renewal.
- Transition Monitoring Team. (1996). Report of the transitional monitoring team to the division guidance team. Unpublished manuscript.
- Transitional Monitoring Team #2. (1997). Report of the transitional monitoring team #2 to the school guidance tam and staff. Unpublished manuscript.
- Wallace, B, & Ridgeway, C. (1996). *Leadership for strategic change*. Exeter, Great Britain: The Short Run Press.
- Walton, A. E. (1995). Transformative Culture: Shaping the Informal Organization. In Nadler, D. A., Shaw, R. B. & Walton, A. E. and Associates. *Discontinuous change: Leading organizational transformation*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Inc.
- Weir, M. (1979). Improving working life in a new factory. In Ottaway, R. N. (Ed). Change agents at work. Westport, Connecticut: Greenwood Press.
- Weiss, C. H. (1986). Toward the future of stakeholder approaches in evaluation. In House, E. R. (Ed.), *New directions in educational evaluation*. Lewes: The Falmer Press.
- Yin, R. K. (1993). Applications of case study research. Newbury Park: Sage Publications.
- Yin, R. K. (1994). Case study research: Design and methods. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.

APPENDIX A

INTERVIEW GUIDE

INTERVIEW GUIDE

General Research Question

What makes change sustainable in the context of an Institute of Technology over a three-year period?

Specific Research Questions

(The following five questions will gather data about the *factors* that are key to sustainable change)

- 1. What was the organizational structure before the change began?
- 2. How was organizational structure identified as the thing to be changed?
- 3. Which key people influenced the change?
- 4. Did management and staff believe the structural change was a valid response to the need for funding cuts?
- 5. Did the culture support the change?

(The following question will gather data about the *processes* that are key to sustainable change)

- 6. How did behaviour contribute to the success of the change?
 - Relations between groups and individuals, e.g. Team leaders and new teams, union and accrediting bodies and customers (students), staff, service areas and other programs. Also advisory committees.
 - Cooperation between team members and between teams?
 - Obvious conflicts?
 - Coordination of budgets?
 - Communication up, down, as well as between clusters and team leaders
 - Controlling and rewarding behaviour
 - Problem solving (top-down or participative)
 - Goal setting and meeting the goals

(The following question will gather data about the *impact* of the change on the institution)

- 7. What benefits were realized
 - Student learning
 - Instructor professional development
 - Increased interaction or teaming in the organization
- 8. If you could change one thing, what would it be?
- 9. Is there anything I haven't asked you that you expected to have asked? Have I missed any key points you would like to include?
- 10. What do you think has been the sustaining factor?

APPENDIX B

RESEARCH PROPOSAL

AND

APPROVAL

I propose to conduct research in the area of sustainable change for my doctoral thesis at the University of Alberta. During my employment I have become aware of the change in leadership to a team approach in the Division. This change has had a ripple effect in other departments who have also tried the team approach, with varying degrees of success.

PURPOSE

The purpose of the study will be to find out those things that have made change sustainable in the Division. The study will be limited to a three-year capsule including the forces that encouraged change (government cut-backs) to the end of this school term (June, 1998). The outcome will be to advance theory on leadership activities that contribute to sustained change.

TIME FRAME

The time frame for the study will be May to August during which time I expect to gather data as follows:

- Read background notes taken by those involved in the change (it is very well
 documented through the efforts of the leadership and Organization
 Development Services).
- Interview key members of the team involved in the change taking place to understand what factors were involved in making the change happen.
- Interview all current department members to determine what key factors are seen as contributing toward sustainability.
- Interview external contributors as the change unfolded (ODS and external consultant) for the purpose of gaining external insights.
- Interview people who serve in a support staff role to discover the role of infrastructure in supporting the change process.
- Identify key turning points in the change strategy and the key factors in sustainability of this particular case.
- Identify and evaluate the impact of the change on the Division and the institution.

PROFESSIONAL EXPERTISE

I expect to have the input of professors of education administration in analyzing and describing the data collected. My committee is currently comprised of Dr. Paula Brook, Associate Professor, whose area of expertise is adult and higher educator. Dr. Mike Andrews, Associate Professor, whose area of expertise is postsecondary education and a former Division head, as well as immediate past-president of AVC-Edmonton; Dr. Eugene Ratsoy, Professor, whose expertise in the are of change in posts4econdary institutions is well documented in literature.

STUDY RESULTS

The results of the study will be shared with the institution and with my supervisory committee at the University of Alberta. I understand that it will be a requirement to ensure the institution is not identified in the thesis.

Date:

March 19, 1998

To:

Judy Harrower

From:

The Institution

Just a note to advise you that your research topic entitled What Makes Change Sustainable does not conflict with any Institutional research priorities. You are hereby given approval to commence your investigations.

This approval is contingent upon you cobtaining approval for your project from the U of A ethics committee and you shariing the results of the study with the Institutional Research office.

Approval from the areas you intend to study will have to be obtained independently.

APPENDIX C

CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN

SUSTAINABLE CHANGE RESEARCH

Judy Harrower c/o University of Alberta Department of Educational Policy Studies Edmonton, Alberta T6G 2G5

Phone: 477-1415(h)/471-8316(w)

Supervisor: Dr. Paul Brook University of Alberta Department of Adult and Higher Education Edmonton, Alberta

Phone: 492-7949

April, 1998

Dear Participant:

RE: Consent to Participate in Sustainable Change Research

I am a graduate student in Educational Administration at the University of Alberta. I am conducting research on the organizational change that took place in the Division from 1994 to 1998. The purpose of the study will be to explore what has made the change sustainable for the three- to four-year period. The study will be informed by determining what the impact of the change has been on the Division and on the institution as a whole.

I would like to invite you to participate in an interview about your experiences with the change. The method I will employ to gather data will be to interview each participant from a pre-determined set of interview questions. I expect the interview to take approximately two hours during which time I will tape record and later transcribe the interview. You will be asked to review the transcription to ensure validity and trustworthiness of the date. You have the right to veto, change, or delete any information from the interviews and conversations you are involved in. The transcriptions will then be analyzed for themes.

To maintain complete confidentiality of the information, I will not identify you or anyone else. In the final presentation of the data and in the dissertation there will be no reference to the name of the institution or to individuals. You may at any time withdraw your consent to participate in the study. Should that be your decision, refer to my phone numbers or write to me at the above address.

If you are willing to participate in this study, please indicate this by signing in the space provided below and rturn this sheet to me in the enclosed envelope.

| I | GIVE PERMISSI | ON FOR JUDY H | ARROWER TO INCLUI | ЭE |
|--------------|--------------------|---------------|-------------------|----|
| ME IN THE RE | SEARCH AS DESCRIBE | ED ABOVE. | | |
| | | | | |
| | | · | | |
| Signature | | Date | | |